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Mr. McGohey: Are these being offered in evi­
dence. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. I am offering them. 
Mr. 1\fcGohey: I object to these, your Honor. 

I do not see the materiality or relevance of these 
lists. 

The Court: Well, I think they are probably 
(2969) offered for the purpose solely of showing 
the data from which this table was prepared. 

Mr. McGohey: Well, that is just the point. I 
don't think they show that. They show a lot of 
names but they do not show any totals of the number 
of names. 

The Court: Let me just take a look at that. 

Q. Mr. vVilkerson, how did you arrive at the totals that 
are shown on the exhibit1 A. By counting the names. 

Q. Counting from the two exhibits I have just offered 
in evidence 1 A. That is correct. 

The Court: I think it will suffice if they be 
merely marked for identification. If there is some­
thing that develops later you may reopen it, but at 
the moment I will sustain the objection and permit 
them, as has already been done, to be marked for 
identification as indicating the documents contain­
ing the names that Mr. Wilkerson counted to get the 
figures that he put in this exhibit-what is the num­
ber of that one you hold o? 

Mr. Gladstein: 131 for identification. 
The Court: Yes. (Continuing) 131 for identifi­

cation. 

Q. Now, as I understand your testimony all of the data 
and tabulations shown on 131 for identification were made 
by you or under your supervision and are true and correct7 
A. That is right. 

(2970) Q. You have indicated all the sources from 
which you took that information~ A. I have. 

Q. The tabulation of the percentages you did; is that 
correct? A. That is correct. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence, your 
Honor. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please-now, if 
you will take your copy Mr. Gladstein, I will use 
mine at my table. May I ask the witness a couple of 
questions, your Honor~ 

The Court: You may. 

Preliminary cross ex.amination by Mr. McGahey: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, with respect to the two exhibits of 
registered voters which were just marked for identification 
Challenge Exhibits 134 and 135, do I understand your 
testimony now to be that you personally counted each of 
the names in Challenge Exhibit 134~ A. No. They were 
done under my direction-that was my testimony. 

Q. You did not count the names in Challenge Exhibit 
134, did you~ A. Personally~ I had them counted and 
supervised the process. 

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, will you please di­
rect the witness to answer my question 1 

Mr. Sacher: That is an answer. I submit that 
is an answer. 

(2971) The Court: I interpret his answer to 
be No, that he didn't count them. 

Q. Did you personally count the names in Challenge Ex­
hibit 135 ~ A. I did not. They were counted under my di­
rection. 

Q. When you say they were counted under your direc­
tion, do you mean that you stood there while somebody 
counted them and you checked as he counted them 1 A. No. 
What I mean is that we had competent people working with 
us on this whom we instructed to make the tabulations 
called for by that exhibit and to prepare them. 

Q. And did those people indicate anywhere on Chal­
lenge Exhibit 134 or Challenge Exhibit 135 any totals by 
pages or columns of name.s (handing) ~ A. There are ap­
parently some ·sub-totals. 

Q. And do they appear on the Challenge Exhibit1 A. 
They do. 
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Q. Would you indicate to me where that is, Mr. Wilker­
son~ A. (Witness indicates.) 

Q. You are showing me now what appears to be the 
third page but which is not numbered-rather, the sixth 
page, although it does not seem to bear any page number, 
which shows pencil notations consisting of numerals at the 
end of each column of names on page 6 and again on 
page 7. (2972) Is that correct~ A. That is correct. 

Q. And the same thing for page 8 and page 9~ A.. Let 
me see 8. All right. 

Q. And for page 10 and page 11 ~ A. And 12. 
Q. And 12. 

Mr. Sacher : Are those numbers the sides of 
pages or the number of pages~ 

The Court: No. They are at the bottom gen­
erally of the columns. 

~1:r. McGohey: No. In counting the page num­
bers I have taken what appears here on the very 
first page to be page 1. 

The Witness : The page numbers are there. 
Mr. l\1cGohey: Yes. I am in error. They are. 
Mr. Sacher: You are not very observant, Mr. 

McGohey. 
Mr. McGohey: They are numbered. The print 

was quite small and I did not ·see it. All right. 

Q. Now, are there any totals for any of the columns 
of names after page 12 on Challenge Exhibit 135¥ 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, this is just a 
question of somebody who knows how to count from 
1 up to 10 or 20 or 30, and counting up the number 
of names by columns. And if Mr. McGohey wants 
to take these and have .somebody in his office check 
to see ·whether the (2973) stenographer-s and the 
other people who just did the job of counting the 
number of names in a column made any grave or 
serious mistake, he may have them. 

The Court: vVell, probably it seems to you un­
important to determine whether the exhibit is ac­
curate or not. Mr. McGohey iE; quite within his 
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right in determining that matter, and I take it that is 
the purpose of these questions. You know, yester­
day we found one of the charts was not accurate. 

Mr. McGohey: Now, if your Honor plea·se, may 
I have the last question to the witness read~ 

The Court: You may. 

(Last question read.) 

A. I would expect there to be none, but if you want me to 
look at each page I will be glad to and see. 

Mr. Sacher: May we write any delay that flows 
from this to Mr. McGohey, please~ 

The Court: Well, Mr. Sacher, I consider that 
an impertinent comment and hope you will not re­
peat it. 

Mr. McGohey: May it be stricken, your Honor. 
The Court: It may be stricken. 

A. (Continuing) There are no further pencil notations after 
page 12. 

The Court: This court is no place for sarcasm. 
Mr. Sacher : I was not being ,sarcastic. 
(2974) The Court: We will just have that 

eliminated. 

By Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Now I show you DefendantB' Challenge Exhibit 134 
for identification, and ask you to indicate the first page 
on that exhibit on which there appear to be any pencil 
notations of the totals of names. A. Page 38 is where 
they begin. 

Q. And where do they end~ .A. Page 48. 
Q. I beg your pardon~ A. Page 48. 
Q. And is that the last page of the exhibit? A. That 

is the last page of the exhibit. 

Mr. Sacher: If you are not going to use them 
may I count them for you, Nir. McGohey~ 

Mr. l\icGohey: Now, if your Honor please, I 
move that that be stricken out. 

Mr. Sacher : I wasn't speaking for the re~ord. 
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The Court: Well, I don't think he was ; I didn't 
hear it. 

Mr. Sacher: I did not speak for the record. 
The Court: And I think it was some little aside. 
Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I object 

to the admission of the exhibit on the ground that 
the data on ·which it is testified it is based is hear­
say. There :Us nothing in either of those exhibits 
to indicate what the total of names in there is. There 
is nothing to indicate (2975) what the total num­
ber of registered voters either for the Bronx or for 
Parkchester is. As a n1atter of fact, those two-let 
me ask the witness one more question, if your Honor 
please. 

By Mr. McGahey: 

Q. Do tholSe two exhibits, Challenge Exhibits 134 and 
135, purport to have the names of all of the voters of 
Bronx County that registered~ A. No. The information-

The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: Just a moment. Your Honor is 

misconstruing the answer, I think. Thes·e two don't 
purport to represent all the Assembly Dilstricts in 
the Bronx, and I think your Honor misunderstands 
the purport of the answer. 

The Court: It is possible. 
J\:fr. Glad stein: Yes, I think your Honor does. 
1vir. Wilkerson,-would you mind, Mr. McGohey1 
Mr. McGohey: I would like to ask one more quel3-

tion or point up one n1ore thing because I am now 
trying to substantiate the basis of my objection. 

I would like to call the Court's attention to the 
fact that one of the figures that appears on. this 
exhibit is a figure which purports to indicate the 
number of registered voters in the Borough of the 
Bronx, and (2976) the figure is given m:; 650,926. 
Alongside that figure is a numeral 1, indicating . a 
note, a footnote, and the footnote says, "Board of 
Elections of the City of New York, 1948.'' 
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Now, I understood the testimony of the witness 
to be that that figure was secured by the counting 
of the names upon Exhibits 134 and 135. 

The Court: That is right. 
Mr. McGohey: That WaB my understanding. Now 

it appears that Challenge Exhibits 134 and 135 do 
not contain the names of all of the registered voters 
of the Bronx. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is not ·what he said. 
The Court: That is where the little misunder­

standing is. I think I will permit ~{r. Gladstein to 
make such explanation as he wlishes about that. 

Direct examination continrned by IV!r. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, would you be good enough to state 
to the Court the source from which you obtained the figure 
650,926-

The Witness: May I have a copy of that 1 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 

Q. -·which appears on Exhibit 131 for identification~ 
A. The figure 650,926 representing the number of registered 
voters in the Borough of the Bronx is a figure (2977) ob­
tained from the Board of Electiorua, New York City, which 
at my last check had not published this 1948 report-it may 
be out now-but which makes accessible this information 
in its office. 

Q. They give you this figure, is that correct' A. That 
is correct. 

Q. And you received that figure from them? A. From 
them. This is for the Bronx as a 'vhole. 

Q. Now where did you get the figure nineteen thousand 
and 1son1e odd 'vhich appears elsewhere on that exhibit~ 
A. The 19,595 registered voters indicated for Parkchester 
were obtained fr01n counting the numbers in the Park­
chester Election districts as indicated on the exhibits you 
have before you. 

Q. In other words, Assembly districts No. 9 and No. 
10 ·which are referred to in Challenge Exhibits 134 and 
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135 for identification include an area over and beyond Park­
che~Bter, is that correct1 A. Yes. 

Q. And what did you do to ascertain what portion of 
those two exhibits you would count the names in to relate 
them to Parkchester ~ A. The Assembly district maps now 
before the Judge include the Election district boundaries 
also, and there is a special map which indicates precmely 
which Ele~tion districts are within the Parkchester pro-
ject. _ 

Q. So you took those Election districts, the na1nes 
(2978) appearing after them that are contained within 
Challenge Exhibits 134 and 135 for identification and had 
those names counted 1 A. Right. 

Q. And yon are sathsfied that the tabulation is correct 
with no serious error, is that right~ A. I am. 

Q. Now is it true that it was simply arrived at by count­
ing up the number of nan1es in each column and adding the 
sub-total until you got the final total of nineteen thousand 
and some odd 1 A. That is correct. 

Mr. Gladstein: I renew the offer, your Honor. 
1fr. McGohey: I renew the objection, your 

Honor, on the grounds already stated; and on the 
further ground that the table as a whole-the in­
formation contained in the table as a whole is im­
material to the issue before the Court. 

Mr. Gladstein: \Vell, let n1e speak on materiality 
for a moment. That exhibit shows-

The Court: I do not think I desire argument on 
this. Let me look at the paper. I want the one 
that is being offered in evidence, if you please, Mr. 
Borman. 

The Witness: Here is a copy of it (handing). 
Mr. McGohey: What you are looking for is Ex­

hibit 131 for identification. 
The Court: Yes, I have it. 
Now, the part of this that shows the number of 

(2979) jurors from the Bronx in the 14 s·elected 
panels and the nun1ber from Parkchester is already 
partially in the record, isn't it~ 

Mr. Gladstein: For those six panels I think no 
such-
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The Court: For theBe 14 panels. 
Mr. Gladstein: 14, rather-
The Court: I say, as to some of thos·e there is 

already evidence as to that, and it is my disposition 
to pern1it so much of this exhibit as relates to other 
panels that were not covered by the other evidence 
becall18e this set of 14 panels seems to be different 
in some respects from any of the panels that were 
referred to earlier. 

Now, I confess I do not follow the relevancy of 
this part about the registered voters. 

lVlr. Gladstein: I will be very happy to answer 
the question in your Honor's mind, and that is 
simply thlli: It is our contention that the most valid 
pool from which potential jurors should be chosen 
consists of eligible voters because in the main there 
are substantially no distinctions between those who 
vote, who are qualifi·ed to vote, and those who are 
eligible under law to ~Serve as jurors. And it is our 
contention that that is the kind of thing that ought 
to be done, that the clerk of this (2980) court and 
the other attaches ought to go to the voting lists 
and choose-

The Court: You have been Baying that all the 
time. 

Mr. Gladstein. And we continue to say it. 
(Continuing )-without distinction or discrimina­

tion against anybody on the voting lists for reasons 
of class or race or color or religion or anything else; 
and that the only reason for disqualifying a voter 
would be some rea~Son that is set forth in the statute; 
for example, that the voter is over the age of 70 
and therefore would not be eligible as a juror. 

The Court: I will receive only so much of the 
exhibit as in the top part of the page which shows 
the 14 federal petit jury panels, the number of jurors 
from Bronx and Parkchester, the percent of the 
Bronx, and the totals appearing below. I will reject 
that part having to do with the registered voters 
and so on toward the bottom. 
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Mr. Gladstein: That :Us the last two tabulations 
or the last two sets of figures~ 

The Court: Yes. Under the words "average 
per panel'' with percentages, the balance may be 
stricken. 

Mr. Sacher: 1'Iay I be heard for just a moment 
on that, your Honor 7 

(2981) The Court: No_ 
Mr. Gladstein: Do you have a copy of this ex­

hibit, 1fr. Wilkerson~ 
The Witness: I do. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now address yourself to that portion of Exhibit 131 
which the Court has received in evidence. Will you tell 
us what that exhibit shows~ 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I suggest 
that the exhibit speaks for itself. 

The Court: Well, I have generally permitted a 
brief description of the matter for the typewritten 
transcript, and alS long as the witness makes it short, 
as he was inclined to do yesterday afternoon, I will 
permit it. 

A. The exhibit shows that in the Bronx for these 14 panels 
from the Bronx as a whole there were drawn 1,060 jurors, 
371 of whom came from the Parkchester area of the Bronx. 
In other words, 35 per cent of all the Bronx jurors on 
these 14 panels are relsidents of Parkchester. 

Q. And the averages~ A. The averages per panel for 
the Bronx as a whole, 75.7 jurors per panel; for Park­
chester, 26.5 jurors per panel; or, in other words, this 
merely reflects the sa1ne percentage figure that over one­
third of the jurors on the panels as a whole and a (2982) 
much larger proportion on certain pane1s from all of the 
Bronx came from the Parkchester project. 

Q. Now, on this exhibit do the figures appearing in the 
column under the heading ''Bronx'' represent all of the 
jurors taken fron1 the Bronx on those panels including 
those who came from Parkchester? A. That is correct. 
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Q. So that the figures appearing in the column under 
the heading '' Parkchester'' repret3ent those who come 
from that area and are included within the larger figure 
on the lefthand side~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Would it he correct then, that an average was found 
in these panels who came from the Bronx of 75.7 jurors 
out of which over a third or 26.5 jurors lived in Park­
chester~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now yesterday afternoon I asked you about whether 
you had made a study to ascertain the extent to which 
you found the san1e people appearing over and over again 
on jury pane]::;. Do you recall that? A. I do. 

Q. And I asked you if you had made such a study and 
embodied the results in exhibit form~ A. Yes. 

Q. You did that, did you~ A. Yes. 
Q. So that it would accommodate the Court and also 

make things clear in the record, did you prepare an exhibit 
which lists in chronological order all of the petit jury panels 
that have been put to analysis in connection (2983) with 
any part of your study? 

The Court: That lis to say, the 28. 
A. I did, and it is a larger number than 28. 

The Court: Then you have changed it since 
yet-sterday. 

The Witness: No, your Honor. 
Mr. Gladstein: No, because there were 28 sub­

jected to occupational analysis, and as your Honor 
will recall there have been others since that date. 

The Court: Well, my notes here read ''Names 
of jurors that kept repeating themselves. 28 panels 
selected. ' ' 

The Witness: That is correct. 
The Court: And then I kept putting them down 

and putting them down, and you kept looking for 
more until finally it got so confused that we dropped 
it, but I ·was left ':vith the impression that there were 
28 panels. 

Mr. Gladstein: Oh, that is true­
The Court: Now you say-
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Mr. Gladstein: Oh, I misunderstood the Court's 
inquiry, or perhaps I did not make my statement 
clear. I may now suggest-

The Court: It is all right. There are 28, and 
now he has got them all in order and we can see 
just ( 2984) exactly which ones they are. 

Mr. Gladstein: No, but we have done more than 
that with that exhibit, and I will ask the witnoos to 
testify about that. 

Do you have a copy of this compilation showing 
all the panels that have been used~ 

The Witness: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: Do you have an extra copy for 

the Court~ 
The Witness : Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: Will you mark that, please, for 

identification. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 136 for 
identification.) 

The Court: There are 33 on here. So it is not 
the same 28. 

Mr. Glacllitein: 28 of those 33 are designated as 
being used in the repeat analysis which we will come 
to. 

By J.llr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now I will show you Challenge Exhibit 136 for 
identification. \Vas this got up under your supervision? 
~!\... It was. 

Q. Now, what does it show~ A. This lists 33 petit jury 
panels in the Southern District. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, we started 
(2985) yesterday afternoon to ascertain precisely 
what 28 panels. Before there is any testimony about 
this exhibit I should like to be informed and to see 
the panels from which the witnoos says he took some 
data. 
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The Court: You have a right to that, and that 
is what was started yesterday, and for some reason 
or other counsel-

Mr. Gladstein: I am merely asking the witness 
to identify this at this time, your Honor. 

The Court: I think as th:lls has been repeated a 
number of tin1es, it would be well for you, now that 
you are thoroughly informed of Mr. l\1:cGohey's 
position in the matter, to produce the panels that 
are referred to so that they may be marked in evi­
dence and the basis for any checking or other 
calculations be clearly in the record. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
The Court: He has a right to that, and he has 

indicated he wants that each time; and it does seem_ 
curiou!S that every time a new one of these charts 
comes in, instead of having the panels that we have 
used before, it always has some different panels. 
But maybe there is some reason for it. 

Mr. Gladstein: The only reason is that it is bet­
ter, alB a matter of fact, in an effort to get the 
(2986) facts to cover 33 panels than 28. It is 
better to cover as many panels as possible because 
you establish a pattern very consistently over an 
even longer period of time. 

The Court: I would have thought that you would 
use the same number of panels, whether they were 
10, 20, 30, 50, a hundred or 500, and use them 
throughout the whole matter so that we would have 
this pattern in some orderly way instead of one 
time using six panels, then 16 panels, then 14 panels, 
then 33- panels, then 25 panels, until it at least ap­
peam to me to introduce an element of confusion 
and disorder. But, however, go ahead with this and 
lay your foundation. You have, I think, a right to 
select whichever ones you choose. 

Mr. Gladstein: We will have the witness testify 
regarding that matter, your Honor. 

The Court: Yes. 
Now, what you are going to do now is to get 

those panels out that are down here and get them 
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in evidence so that we won't have all the confusion 
that we had yetSterday. 

Mr. Gladstein: This is 27 for identification, 
Mr. McGohey (indicating). That was one of the 
panels that is-

Mr. McGohey: Now Mr. Gladstein, may I ask 
you, ( 2987) please, if you are going to hand me 
a paper, hand it to me. I can read it. 

Mr. Gladstein: I was stating for the record 
what I had shown Mr. McGahey, and will give him 
the entire list. 

The \VitneslS: :rviay I have the date of that so 
I can check it as I go along~ 

Mr. :NlcGohey: The paper I am looking at, Mr. 
Wilkerson, is marked Challenge Exhibit 27 for iden­
tification, and there is this legend "9.30 a. m., petit 
jury, Room No. 109, J\farch 17, 1941." 

The Witness: That is what I wanted. Thanks. 
Mr. McGohey: Are you offering this, Mr. Glad­

stein, in evidence 1 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
~fr. McGohey: Your Honor, I reserve the right 

to move to !Strike it because it appears not to be an 
original from the clerk's office but a copy that some­
body else made, but I don't want to hold it up now 
to have that checked. 

The Court: Well, let me see. We have here 
this paper 136 for identification, which has 33 dates 
of jury panels. 

Do I understand that Mr. Gladstein is starting 
with the one at the top, and that this paper now 
offered (2988) is the panel for January 4, 19381 

Mr. Gladstein: No, I ~Started with the first panel 
offered for identification in the case. I think that 
is the earliest number, No. 27, or 26, rather-

The Clerk : 25. 
Mr. McGohey: 25 appears to have been the 

first. 
Mr. Gladstein: That is in evidence, I believe. 

This is the first for identification that has not yet 
been received. 
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The Clerk: 25 is not in evidence. 
The Court : It is the same thing that we had 

yesterday, and an hour or so was consumed just 
going around fron1 one to another, and I do think 
an orderly, consistent way of presenting the thing 
is going to be a saving of tirne and be more helpful 
to the Court. Unless you have those in, as 1ir. :Mc­
Gohey suggests, ·why, "\Ve would simply get a mass 
of evidence here later and nobody will be able to 
make head or tail of it. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor pleal3e, several 
of these exhibits appear to be in the same category. 
Now here is a set of papers marked Challenge Ex­
hibit 25 for identification, and it is obviously a copy 
that somebody else made, not frorn the clerk's of­
fice. 

~ehe CouTt: "\Vell, I won't receive it that way. 
Mr. Gladstein : I didn't hear the rmnark ( 2989) 

because Mr. Gordon-
Mr. McGohey: I say that this Challenge Exhibit 

25 lis obviously a copy that somebody made from the 
records in the clerk's office but it is not a record 
fro1n the clerk's office. 

Mr. Gladstein: It was testified earlier in the 
case that this is exactly what happened: that some 
copies were purchased; that son1e copies we were 
not able to purchaJSe because the clerk did not have 
-copies, said he did not have them, and ·we were 
pern1itted to have stenographers n1ake copies in the 
office of Miss Mahoney, I believe it was, and that 
other copies were photostated. So that we had three 
different types of copies. 

Now, each of these is subject to check agairu3t 
the file copy in the clerk's office, and each of these 
is vouched for and has been by the testimony-

The Court : If there is testimony by a witness 
that he has compared them and that the paper is 
an accurate representation of what lli in the clerk's 
office I will receive the paper. \Vhere there is no 
authentication I will not. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, to save time then, I ·will 
have to defer this portion of the offer in evidence 
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so that we can have that comparison n1ade with the 
file copy in the clerk's office, as I understand your 
Honor's (2990) ruling·, because-

The Court: You told me you had the proof in 
the record already. I am not telling you that you 
need to have it over again, but I can't remember 
when a witness has authenticated this exhibit or 
that exhibit. I am not telling you to do it all over 
again if it has already been done. 

l\1r. Gladstein: It could be very simply handled. 
\Ve could get the clerk to bring his copies, and then 
they will be 1narked for identification and we will 
have somebody n1ake the con1parison and give testi­
mony that the two are the san1e, if that is the fact, 
and to any discrepancy, if there is any. That can 
be done very readily. 

Mr. ~1cGohey: If your Honor pleruae, with re­
spect to that I have this observation to n1ake: The 
statement of :Mr. Gladstein just made about the 
description of these various panels which appear 
in the record consist of this, that at the very begin­
ning of the testi1nony of Mr. Wilkerson, I think the 
record will Bhow-I don't recall the page-Mr. 
Gladstein stated that they had copies-that the de­
fense had copies of certain panels of jurors that 
served in this court, and he explained then, as he 
did this morning, that son1e of these papers which 
they had were copies which clerm.::; fron1 the counsel's 
(2991) office had made of the original records in 
the clerk's office; that others were copies sold to 
them by the clerk; and that a third class were photo­
stats of the original records. There was no testi­
mony by any 1vitness a1s to the authenticity of the 
copies and the accuracy of then1. There is no testi­
nlony of that. You can take my word for that. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: Now, with respect to the sug­

gestion now made, when we are in the fourth week 
of this proceeding that now counsel ought to call 
the clerk to produce his record, and then have some­
body check what has been used by the defendanm 
and what is now being offered by them to the Court 
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to now ascertain their accuracy, when they have 
been the subject of testimony and the subject of 
charts and maps and tables for three weeks-I sug­
gest to your Honor that that time should not be 
allowed. I think that the orderly way to present a 
c~e is to authenticate the things that you use at 
the time you present thern to the Court, and if they 
are not authenticated I object to their reception, 
and I object to any further time being granted now 
to authenticate them. 

Mr. Gladstein: I didn't ask for further time 
to authenticate them. I am sorry Mr. McGohey mis­
understood what I said and I hope the Court did 
not. I am not asking (2992) for any time what­
soever. But I am saying this: we will have the clerk. 
He has been under subpoena for several we·eks. And 
among the thin~ called for are those file copies 
of the jury panel listings that we have used here. 
When he produces those we will mark them and 
we will have people during the course of these pro­
ceedings with no delay whatsoever make the com­
parisons and take the stand and testify as to what 
the comparison ~Bhows. There will be no delay in 
the proceedings. 

The Court: Don't you think it is a pretty good 
idea if we just leave this matter without any more 
argument~ I think I understand just what is pre­
sented to me here and I would like to get some 
rather clear notion of what you have got left to 
do with Mr. Wilkerson. Now, as to this paper 136 
for identification, if we let the paper go in he is 
going to give some evidence rus to people ·whose 
names appear several times over the years, isn't 
he~ 

Mr. Gladstein: That is right. 
The Court: What else is he going to do besides 

that~ 
Mr. Gladstein: With regard to what, your 

Honor~ 
The Court: With regard to what you have left 

for him to do. 
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(2993) Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, I 
would prefer-

The Court: Perhaps we can shorten this thing 
up and help you out a little bit about it. At the 
moment I am a little bit inclined to let him go ahead 
as to the~Se names that he says are repeated, sub­
ject to connection later. Now, if you have two or 
three other things of the same character, maybe we 
can dispose of them. If you would rather not tell 
me what they are, which is the course you gentlemen 
have pursued pretty persistently in this trial, why, 
I shall simply let the matter drop. 

Now, what my inquiry is, what are the other 
things that you will attempt to bring out fro1n Mr. 
Wilkenson besides the repetition of names~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, I am not a 
small child. I am perfectly willing to state to the 
Court very candidly, as I always am, the character 
of the proof at any stage that I have to give. 

The Court: Perhaps you will do it then. 
Mr. Gladstein: I said yesterday that I had hoped, 

as a matter of fact, to complete Mr. Wilkerson's 
testimony before the day was over. But becamse 
of antics similar to the ones we have s€en this morn­
ing on the part of the United States Attorney-

Mr. McGohey: I move to strike that out, (2994) 
your Honor. 

The Court: Strike it out. 
Mr. Gladstein: (Continuing)-who says he 

can-
The Court: I don't know what on earth you can 

mean by that 'vord ''antics." There has been noth­
ing here that could remotely be properly char­
acterized in such a way. 

Mr. GladJstein: I suppose that is a matter of 
judgment. And I was using the remark-

The Court: I think so. And, of course, I ·am 
the one who is supposed to be exercising the judg­
ment. 

Mr. Gladstein: Nonetheles, my point is this: 
that unless this que!stion is withdrawn by Mr. Mc­
Gohey with respect to whether or not a stenographer 
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simply copies the name or the address in the office 
of the clerk from a jury panel, then obviously we 
are going to have to make that kind of compari­
son. 

The Court: Now you remember what we are 
talking about. I asked you and I now ask you again, 
in addition to this n1atter of repetition of names 
what are the other matter13 that you expect to bring 
out frorn Mr. Wilkerson this morning 1 

Mr. Gladstein: I have brief testimony to bring 
out with respect to the 22nd Congressional district. 
I have ( 2995) a few questions to ask him concern­
ing testimony he has already given but which I 
think is not sufficiently prec:llse and ought to be 
covered. And then I have brief testimony from 
him with respect to those factors that we once 
started to talk about that ought to be taken into 
account to determine the extent to which, if any, 
there is impact upon the occupational classifications 
that we have had testimony about, by reason of 
such factors ats alienage, illiteracy, and taking into 
account the exclusion of those over 14 years old but 
under 21 who are gainfully employed. 

The Court: All right. With that statement I 
will permit you to interrogate the witness in a 
general way as to what he did about this repetition 
of names, subj·ect to connection. 

Mr. Gladstein: First let me ask the witneBs to 
identify Challenge Exhibit .136 for identification. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you do that, sir 1 Tell us what it is. A. What 
are you referring to~ Is this 1361 

Q. Yes. 

The Court : Did you take those 33 panels, Mr. 
Wilkerson, and then take the A's and B 's as a 
sampling to check to see whether any names had 
been repeated~ 
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The Witness: Apparently the attorney is 
( 2996) asking me a question about a different ex­
hibit. 

M~r. Gladstein: That is right. 136 for identifica­
tion, if the Court please, is simply an enumeration 
of the panels that hav:e been examined for one or 
another portions of the studies. And I am asking 
the witness no\v to state for the record what that 
exhibit shows. 

The Court: Well, that is jmst the sort of thing 
that I don't want you to do. Now you indicated 
yesterday that Mr. Wilkerson had taken 28 panels. 
Now it is 33. 

The Witness: No. 
The Court: Well, that is all right, if he took 

33· panels. And then he took the A's and B's and 
he went through them by taking the A's and B 's 
as a sampling and he found a certain number of 
names repeated. No"r, that can be done without a 
long rig1narole, and I am going to rusk him now 
whether that is what he did. 

Did you do that with these 33 panels, Mr. Wilker-
sonf 

The Witness: I did not, your Honor. 
The Court: Did you do it with 28 panels? 
The vVitness: I did. 
The Court: And going through the A's and B 's 

of those 28 panels did you find that some name15 were 
repeated~ 

The Witness: We found that 146-
The Court: The answer is either yes or no. 
(2997) The Witness: Yes. 
The Court: Did you find that some names were 

repeatedf 
The Witness: I did. 
The Court: How many? 
The WitnelSs: 146. 
The Court: What was the total number of those 

names in the A's and B 's that you went overt 
The V\Titness : 1,084. And if you wish-
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The Court: No. That is just what I want, is 
the answer to that question. 

Now, that can be taken subject to connection as 
to the!Se particular panels. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, are the 28 panels that you examined to deter­
mine how many names were shown to repeat themselves, 
shown and identified on Challenge Exhibit 136 for iden­
tification~ A. If thhs is 136-

Q. That is 136. A. They are. 

The Court : Now if you take 28 and you take 
33 and deduct one from the other, that indicates 
that there are five panels on here that are not part 
of the 28, doesn't it~ Which are those five, so that 
I may cross them off~ 

The Witness: It is already indicated for your 
(2998) Honor. Dash line-the list of 33 panels 
are panels which have been used for variooo pur­
poses in the course of my testimony, and because 
the Court seemed to want such information we pre­
pared last night this tabulation which ·would indicate 
precisely which panels were used in the various 
parts of the testimony. 

The Court: Now for my information and with­
out too much cir·cumlocution, would you read to me 
the five that are not included in the 28 so that I 
may put a red mark on my copy of the exhibit. 

The Witness: The panel of September 16, 1944, 
is not included. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is October. 
The Witness: October. Pardon me. October 

16, 1944. 
The Court: Yes. 
The Witness: December 17, 1945. 
The· Court: Yes. 
The Witness: January 2, 1946. 
The Court: Yes. 
The WitneS}S: February 1, 1949. 
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The Court: February 1, 1949. 
The Witness: And February 14, 1949. 
The Court: Thank you. 
The vVitness: You are welcome. 
( 2999) The Court : Now will you kindly pass 

on to a new subject. 
Mr. Gladstein: I would like to offer 136 in evi­

dence. 
The Court: Well, I think it is better to do that 

after you have made your connecting proof. It is 
already marked for identification. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Do you have an exhibit that shows which are the 
names and which the panels on which those names appear 
that were found to be repeats~ A. I do have. 

The Court : These are th~ 146 ~ 
The Witne·ss: Yes. 
The Court : Yes. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 137 marked for 
identification.) 

Q. I show you 137 for identification. Does that cor­
rectly set forth the names, addresses and occupations of 
jurors whose names appeared more than once and whose 
names begin with either A or B on the 28 panels concern­
ing which you have just testified~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Giving the dates of the panels on which their names 
appear? A. And other information; and also (3000) 
the addresses of jurors and their occupations. 

Mr. Gladstein : I will offer that in evidence. 
The Court : That is over a period of twelve 

years, isn't it~ 
The Witness: Really, more than that. , We in­

cluded in this .analysis certain early panels going 
back as far as 1938 and 19·39. 

The Court: Well; that is what I .say. From 
1938 to 1949 would be twelve years. 
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The Witness: That is right. 
The Court: You can't make it any more than 

that. It is probably a little less because this is just 
the early part of 1949. 

Mr. McGahey: Your lion or, subject to any cor­
rection that a check might show, I have no objection 
to it. 

The Court: Very well. It may be marked. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 137 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, we have mentioned in the tes­
timony here that area of l\fanha ttan which is known as 
Harlem; we have also had evidence concerning the boun­
daries of the 22nd Congressional district. 

Are you familiar with the general character of the 22nd 
Congressional district~ A. I am. 

(3001) ·Q. Do you know the nature and the general 
character of the racial composition of that district? A. 
I do. 

Q. What is it~ A. It is overwhelmingly Negro in 
population, in composition. 

Q. Do you know the character of the housing in that 
area 1 A. I do. 

Q. What is the nature of the housing~ A. It varies 
as any community does. Predon1inantly low cost hous­
ing-or rather, low rent housing, some slums. There are 
a fevv blocks with medium income housing; no really high 
cost housing in terms of the type of thing we find on Fifth 
Avenue. Overwhelmingly, though, it is low rent housing 
and much of it in very bad condition. 

Q. Are there some exceptionally small areas? A. 
There are. 

Q. Where there is an unusual kind of housing for 
Harlem 1 A. I remember a few blocks, for example, 
west-immediately west of Seventh Avenue, beginning 
around 139th Street and above where rentals are-that 
is, the running blocks which are on a north and south 
parallel, but running west from Seventh Avenue, where 
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rentals are a little bit higher than they are in other parts 
of the community. There are here and there other isolated 
blocks and apartments where rents are a little bit above 
the general average for the community. 

(3002) Q. What is in general, if you know, the occu­
pational classifications to which the Negro population in 
Harlem is placed(? A. Overwhelmingly manual workers. 

Q. Now, did you make a study to ascertain how many 
jurors come from the 22nd Congressional district~ A. 
I did. 

:1\fr. Gladstein: l\fark this, please. 
The Court: Isn't that in already f 
Mr. Gladstein: No, it is not. 
The Witness: If I may, your Honor-
The Court: No. I was asking Mr. Gladstein. 

Isn't that proof in already~ 
Mr. Gladstein: No. 
The Court: I saw a large number of these maps 

which have the pins indicating every single juror. 
I thought you had covered that ground pretty well 
as to the 22nd. 

:Nir. Gladstein: Well, this covers the 30 panels. 
The Court: Different panels. 
Mr. Gladstein: Giving the dates beginning 

January 17, 1940, right up to and including February 
1, 1949. 

The Court: Doe·s it in general, or does that 
additional proof that you have in general simply 
confirm what is indicated on the maps you have 
already put in (3003) evidencef 

J\fr. Gladstein: Well, the exhibit speaks for it­
self. It adds some and something that is new. It 
covers a longer period and it brings the matter up 
to date. 

The Court: I think I shall reject that chart. 
1'Ir. Gladstein: May I have it identified in the­
The Court: It is merely cumulative. 
Mr. Gladstein: I desire to have it identified in 

the record. 
The Court: Yes, certainly. 
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(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 138 marked for 
identification.) 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, was 138 for identification prepared 
under your supervision~ A. It was. 

Q. State how it was prepared. 

The Court: You need not pursue the subject, 
Mr. Gladstein, as to that part. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I desire the record to show 
at least that the foundation for its reception has 
been laid. 

The Court: I was just going to say, you may 
take my ruling to have been made on the basis of 
avoiding further and unneces-sary delay here, and 
other reasons, and ( 3004) it is not necessary for 
you to lay the foundation. You may proceed upon 
the assumption that the witness would have testified 
as he has with reference to those other exhibits, 
that the data in the paper was accurately prepared 
by him. 

Now we will take our usual recess at this time. 

(Short recess.) 

Mr. Gladstein: May I say a word to the Court 
regarding the last exhibit that I offered~ 

The Court: Let me just look at it for a moment. 
Mr. Gladstein: That is 138 for identification. 
The Court : Yes. That is just what I supposed. 

(Returning exhibit to clerk.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Now with respect to that exhibit, 
your Honor, I want to call attention to the fact that 
the only evidence that we have in the record con­
cerning the extent to which jurors are obtained by 
the clerk from the 22nd Congressional district is 
shown in 13 maps, as I recall it. I think that that 
is correct. · This tabulation covers 30 jury panels 
and therefore is much more detailed and covers a 
longer period and a more full period with respect 
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to that question-that is to say, how often you find 
a juror on one of the panels here who lives in the 
22nd Congressional district. 

It is a much more adequate analysis than the 
( 3005) maps are, and since we haven't had any­
thing from 11r. McGohey to indicate his position 
as to the adequacy or inadequacy of the sampling 
that has been taken, and nothing from the Court 
either, I submit that this exhibit, which shows an 
analysis of 30 panels and over 8,000 jurors, over 
8,000 jurors examined for the question of where they 
are located, with 56 coming from the 22nd Con­
gressional district, :Us evidence that should be re­
ceived. And I rene-w my offer, your Honor. 

The Court: Well, it is a matter of degree. Had 
there been a lack of this long series of dilatory 
tactics I might have taken a different view, but I 
can't persuade myself that it is a matter of real 
significance. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

·Q. Now I believe you testified, Mr. Wilkerson, concern­
ing the extent to which, if any, the elimination from your 
occupational analyses of those who are aged 14 to 21 and 
those who are over 70 would affect the validity of your 
computations. I want you to consider the question of 
alienage- A. No, we did not, Mr. Gladstein. 

Q. Oh, you did not go into that~ A. I testified with 
respect to the effect or to the comparability of 1940 data. 

Q. That is right. Now will you continue with that 
(3006) testimony~ 

The Court: Just a moment, Mr. Gladstein. I 
want to refer back. 

I have in my notes that he has already testified 
on the subject of age. With a reference to Exhibit 
8 he testified that seven per cent were under 21 
and over 70, and that he reached the general con­
clusion from the matters that he explained, the 
difference, that is to ·say, of over 14, was in his 
judgment a very trivial factor. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: I do not understand your state­

ment, or his, whichever it was, that he had not 
testified on the subject before. 

11r. Gladstein: Well, he has not completed his 
testimony on that subject. 

The Witness: That is what I intended. The 
testimony was interrupted until we could get-we 
were asked to bring in certain further data on it. 

The Court: Will you show me Exhibit 8, please f 
Mr. Gladstein: Which number~ 
The Court : 8. 
(l\fr. Gladstein hands to the Court.) 
The Court: Very well. 

Q. How did you arrive at that figure that you testified 
(3007) to? 

Mr. 1fcGohey: What figure o? 

A. What figure are you referring to? 
Q. The figure as to the extent to which the elimination 

of those between 14 and 21 and those over 70 would, if at 
all, affect your occupational analysis. You gave a figure 
of about 7 per cent of gainfully employed, as I recall it, 
who were in those groups to be eliminated from the cal­
culations. 

l\!Ir. 11cGohey: l\!Iay I ask if that is referred to 
in some table and, if so, what table? 

The Court: I think the reference is to his testi­
mony, J\fr. McGohey, and according to my notes he 
testified to that effect. But I have no reference to 
any table or exhibit. 

The Witness: If I may-
The Court: Am I not right about that, Mr. 

Gladstein? 
l\1r. Gladstein: That is right. 

Q. Would you state how you arrived at that figure, 
what the calculation was involved and what the source of 
your information was, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. Yes. The 
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Census provides, as we indicated, occupational informa­
tion for people in certain categories but not for precisely 
the categories for which jurors, (3008) or rather, from 
which age categories from which jurors are chosen. It 
provides information concerning the number in the labor 
force for those ages but not always the specific occupations 
of the people by all ages. 

For New York City, however, the Census provides 
rather specific information for most all of the .age groups­
well, for the age groups and occupations. And on the 
basis of the New York City analyses one can get a precise 
measure of the effect of eliminating those under 20 and 
those over 70 from the occupational data reflected by the 
charts which were before the Court. 

Q. Did you mean to say under 20 or 20 and under 7 
A. 20 and under, and over 70. Now, the sources for all 
of these data are the 16th Census of the United States, 
third series, the labor force, Table 13. 

The Court : Now that is evidently not exhibit 8 
which is the 16th Census, 1940, Population, 4th 
series, Characteristics by age, marital status, rela­
tionship, education and citizenship. So evidently 
you have reference to another exhibit. 

The Witness: Yes. If I may explain, your 
Honor-

The Court: No. Just let us get the exhibit. 
You see, I am trying to put down this long drawn 
out explanatory data and I think it would be so 
simple to get at these things quickly. 

(3009) The Witness: I can tell my story in 
just a few minutes. 

The Court : Well, go ahead and tell your story 
now. Let us hear it. 

Mr. Gladstein: This is Challenge No. 9. The 
document-

The Court : Y e.s. I have given him a chance 
to tell his story about it. Now, let us hear what he 
can do in making it short and to the point. 

The Witness: It may help the Court if he has 
before him-
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The Court: That is the kind of thing-''It may 
help the Court"; this, that, the other, off here, all 
over and all around. Please don't do that. 

The Witness: If you want to refer to something 
it will help you follow me. 

The Court: No. I want to listen to the story. 
You said you wanted to tell the story. Let us see 
how brief and to the point you can make it. 

The Witne.ss: By eliminating executives, pro­
fessionals, clericals and manual workers in age 
groups which are without the jury service age 
groups of 21 to 70, one can find by a process of 
estimations which is commonly used by the Census 
itself, can find the number of executives, profes­
·sionals, clericals and manual workers in the age 21 
(3010) to 70 range which corresponds with the 
jury range. This we did. 

The details of how it was done, the arithmetic, 
I have on two sheets here if it is to be recorded bv 
the Court, but I will just tell you what the result 
was. 

As is shown by the charts that we had before us 
for the Southern District as a whole, I think it is 
'46-may I look at that chart~ No, I am talking 
about the big occupation charts. I mean by that, 
the base we used, which is Bronx, Manhattan and 
Westchester. 

(Mr. Gladstein puts chart on board.) 

~1r. Gladstein: You are asking for Challenge 67. 
The Witness: (Continuing) We found that in 

the Southern District counties subjected to analysis, 
Bronx, Manhattan and Westchester, 54.6 per cent 
of the gainfully employed work persons were manual 
workers. We do not have for that particular area 
enough information precisely to calculate the per­
centage within the age groups 21 to 70 but we do 
have such information for New York City which 
may be assumed to be comparable, with no substan­
tial difference, in such distribution. 
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We find that for New York City as a whole the 
occupations of 14 and over workers are distributed 
as follows, or the workers are distributed under 
the occupations as follow.s: Ten per cent are 
executives- (3011) 10.3 per cent; 9.2 per cent are 
professional workers; 27.4 are clerical-sales workers; 
53.1 per cent are manual workers. 

When one excludes from that those age 14 to 20 
and 71 and over and distributes the remainder among 
occupations he finds that for executives the per­
centage is 10.8 per cent, for professionals 9 .. 5 per 
cent-the 10 and 8 by the way is just .5 of a percen­
tage point above the 14 and 8 figure-professionals 
9.5, or it is increased by .3 of one per cent. 

The Court: Yes. I can make the calculations. 
Just go ahead. 

The Witness: The clerical and sales, 26.4, and 
the manual workers 53.3 per cent. 

Such an analysis reveals therefore that the occu­
pational distribution of gainful workers 14 years of 
age and over as reported by the Census and used 
in our occupational analysis is almost exactly, cer­
tainly substantially you can say, the same as that 
of persons age 21 to 70 who are available for jury 
.service. The difference here is only .2 of one per 
cent for New York, and one can be certain that there 
would be no substantial difference. I think we esti­
mated last week about one per cent, if any. 

The Court: I do not follow that .2 of one per 
( 3012) cent. As to the executives it is a difference 
of .5, as to the next classification .3, as to the next 
one one whole point. 

The Witness: It is reduced by one. 
The Court : And as to the last, namely, the 

manual workers, .2. That is the one you were 
referring to alone. 

The Witness: Yes. What I was saying was­
The Court : Well, that is all right. 
The Witness: I did not finish my statement, 

your Honor. Maybe I can't. 
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The Court : Well, I think this is one statement 
that you are not going to finish. 

I think I understand precisely \Vhat you have 
done and what conclusions you have arrived at. 
And we will now pass to the subject of alienage. 

:Nir. Gladstein: nlay I do this, your Honor? 
May I ask the witness : 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Did yon set forth in tabular form, in written form, 
so as to be available for exhibits the data utilized in the 
calculations you have just described, showing those calcu­
lations and the results~ A. Yes. There are two sheets 
of such data. 

~fr. Gladstein: They can be marked together, I 
( 3013) take it. 

The Court: Yes. Show them to Mr. :NicGohey. 
l\!Ir. Gladstein: I will have copies for him. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 139 marked for 
identification.) 

The Court: Do you offer those in evidence 1 
Mr. Gladstein: I would like to. 
~1r. rtlcGohey: Your Honor, I object to this on 

two grounds; one, I think it is repetitious and cumu­
lative, and two, the second page-I take it that this 
is all being offered as one exhibit, the two pages. 

The Court : Yes, I think so. 
Mr. lVIcGohey: (Continuing) From the note at 

the foot of page 2 it appears to be too highly 
speculative. 

Mr. Gladstein: This is offered in explanation. 
The Court: Just let me think, Mr. Gladstein. 

You know, if you could just cut down on the argu­
ment. I was just thinking about it for a moment 
here. 

Well, its probative force may be little, but I have 
commented several times on this question of the 
statistics being drawn from those gainfully employed 
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14 years of age and over, and perhaps I may get 
some benefit from it. 

I think I will overrule the objection and receive 
this. 

(3014) (Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 139 for 
identification received in evidence.) 

The Court: Let me have that back when you 
finish marking it, Mr. Clerk. 

You may proceed, Mr. Gladstein. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, did you give consideration to 
the possible effect on the validity of your occupational 
analysis and the testimony you have given concerning that 
subject, of the extent to which among those gainfully oc­
cupied in Manhattan, Bronx and Westchester there are to 
be found aliens among the population~ A. I did. 

The Court : ''There are to be found' '-what 1 
Mr. Gladstein: Aliens. 
The Court : Oh, yes. 

Q. Tell us what the character was of the study that you 
made in that regard. 

:Mr. McGohey: Pardon me. Just a minute. 
Does that refer to some table that we talked 

about, that the witness talked about once before f 
Mr. Gladstein: In part it refers to the letter you 

and I talked about yesterday, a copy of which you 
have. 

Mr. 1\'IcGohey: Yes, that is the Hazard letter. 
But wasn't that a source in one of the tables 1 My 
recollection ( 3015) was that the table which de­
pended in part upon the Hazard letter was offered 
but not received because of the absence of the Haz­
ard letter. And if we are going to talk back about 
the data refle·cted in that table I ·should like to know 
if that is so .so I can look at the table. 

The Court: Yes, I remember suggesting that 
that letter be put in evidence but it was not done. 
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That is that letter of December 3, 1948 ~ 
Mr. McGohey: That is right, your Honor. .And 

that is the one that was in court yesterday. 
The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: We will have that marked, that 

is, a copy of it. We have copies of it only. 
Mr. McGohey: Yes; I agreed yesterday­
The Court: I know you did. 
Mr. McGohey: -that the copy would not be 

challenged. 
The Court: I thought we would save time if we 

just put it in, but evidently Mr. Gladstein thinks it 
better-

Mr. Gladstein: I have it now. I did not under­
stand the Court's remark. It can be marked now 
and put in. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 140 marked for 
identification.) 

Mr. Gladstein (To witness): Do you have a 
copy of this~ 

The Witness: I have. 
(3016) Mr. Gladstein: That letter is received in 

evidence, is it, your Honor~ 
The Court: Yes, it is. 
Mr. McGohey: May I have the exhibit number, 

please~ 
The Clerk: 140 received in evidence. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you tell us how you ,calculated the extent to 
which alienage would affect the occupational distribution 
in your analyses in this case, and particularly referring to 
No. 67 in evidence' A. Again we made the calculations on 
the basis of available data for New York City. Informa­
tion concerning the occupational distribution of persons 
gainfully employed, 14 years of age and older, which we had 
presented previously and which are represented by the 
chart, and information for the Department of Immigration 
on the occ-qpational distributions of aliens resident in the 
City of New York in 1940. 
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The Court: That latter part is Exhibit 140, 
that letter~ 

The Witness: It is the letter. I don't know 
whether that is the exhibit number. 

The Court: Yes, that is the exhibit number. I 
say that because referring to my notes of your prior 
( 3017) testimony on the subje·ct of alienage I notice 
a reference to population characteristics, Exhibit 85, 
but I now see that you are referring to the letter, 
Exhibit 140. 

You may proceed . 

.A. (Continuing) The general procedure was to subtract 
from the gainfully employed 14 years of age and over those 
who are aliens, as indicated by the letter from Mr. Henry 
B. Hazard, and to ascertain what difference that makes in 
the percentage of gainfully employed workers to be found 
in each of the four main occupational groupings. The re­
sults of the analysis are reported in Table II-A. They in­
dicate that the proportion of executives would be reduced 
by 0.1 of 1 per cent, from 9.1 to 9.0. For-

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me, Mr. Wilkerson. I 
think you said Table II-A. Did you mean Table 
X-A? 

The Witness: I meant X-A. 
Mr. M·cGohey: Thank you. ~ 

A. (Continuing) For professionals for the whole popula­
tion, including aliens, the percentage is 8.8; excluding 
aliens it is 9.4-an increase of 6j10ths of 1 percentage 
point. 

For clerical-sales workers the percentage including 
aliens is 26.8; excluding aliens it is 29.1-an increase of 3.7 
per cent. 

For manual workers, the group with which we (3018) 
are primarily concerned in this analysis, the percentage in­
cluding aliens is 55.3; excluding aliens it is 52.5-a decrease 
of 8/lOths of 1 per ·cent. 

The Court: What is that? From 55.3 to 52.5 is 
more than that. 
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The .Witness: Oh, pardon me, yes. It is about 
2.5. 

The Court : Yes. 
The vVitneHs: In other words, the fact that 

aliens who are not eligible for jury service are in­
cluded in the occupational data presented earlier 
in this court has no significant effect-significant, I 
mean, in terms of statistical significance-no sub­
stantial effect in changing the pattern of occupa­
tional distribution of those persons who are eligible 
for jury service. 

For New York City as a whole, which we are 
here using as a criterion, as a n1easure, it would re­
duce the percentage manual workers are by only 
about 3 per cent, and that would still mean more than 
50 per cent of the workers, 50 per cent of the gain­
fully ernployed persons in our occupational data or 
analysis, are manual workers. 

Q. Who would be eligible for jury duty in so far as 
citizenship is concerned~ A. There is one other thing that 
is important in this ( 3019) connection: this is a determi­
nation of the effect on occupations in 1940 of eliminating 
aliens from the occupational distribution. There have been 
important changes in the numbers of aliens and in the 
occupational distribution of aliens since 1940. Table X-B 
is relevant in this regard: I will cite the sources and give 
you my conclusions without the details. 

In the first place, there has been a large decline in the 
number of aliens, as you can find from statistical abstracts, 
United States, 1947, Table 117, page 136, a decline of at 
lea·st one-fourth since 1940 of the number of aliens in New 
York City. 

The Court: How much 1 What is that percent­
age~ 

The Witness: About 25 per cent. 
The Court : 25 per cent 1 Where did they all go 

to~ 

The Witness: Many were naturalized; fewer 
have been coming in. 
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The Court : So there was a normal increase in 
the population but not a similar increase in the num~ 
ber of aliens, and that is the principal reason, I take 
it, for that decline in percentage figure Y 

The Witness: Yes. You will find further con­
firmation in the U. S. Department of Justice, Immi­
gration and Naturalization Service, annual report 
(3020) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1940, 
Table XII. 

Further, the characteristic-
Mr. McGohey: Pardon me just a minute, your 

Honor. I should like to inquire if that table of the 
Department of Justice, which has just been referred 
to, has been marked. 

The Court: Well, he gave it the number 12. I 
thing it was probably Exhibit 12. 

The Witness: No. The publication. I do not 
think it has been introduced in evidence. 

Mr. McGohey: Wasn't that included in the letter 
of Dr. Hazard? 

The Witness: No. This is an annual report. It 
is a volume back there with blue covers on it, if you 
want to find it. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, reading 
from Challenge Exhibit 140 in evidence, the last 
sentence of the first paragraph of that letter, which is 
Dr. Hazard's letter dated December 3, 1948, says 
this, and I quote: 

''The report for 1947 is enclosed since that 
for 1948 is not ready for distribution at this time." 

The Court: So that was the one referred to. 
The Witness: Perhaps I did not understand his 

question originally. 
The Court : That is all right. 

(3021) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you continue~ A. It should be further pointed 
out that the occupations of recent immigrants who consti­
t~te the l~rg~r part of the aliens, overwhelmingly, ha~s been 
different 1n Its pattern from that of earlier aliens. 
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Table X-A-which may or may not be an exhibit; I think 
we should find out, Mr. Gladstein, whether it has been-no, 
X-B-

The Court: Well, go ahead and tell us. They 
used to be manual workers, not what are theyt Doc­
tors1 

The Witness: It indicates that there is a sharp 
decrease since 1940 in the number of manual work­
ers, a slight proportion of manual workers; a slight 
decrease in the clerical-sales force; ·considerable in­
crease in the proportion of professionals and con­
siderable increase on the proportion of executives. 

The sources of that information was indicated on 
the table, and the implications of these facts, the re­
duction in the number of aliens in the population and 
the higher occupational status of such aliens, using 
"Executive" as higher in quotation marks, and 
"manual workers'' as lower in quotation marks, 
would mean that (3022) the small difference which 
we pointed out-that the elimination of aliens from 
1940, occupational data for the census, small would 
be even smaller if data were available at the present 
time, because of the fact that the number of aliens 
are smaller and that their occupational status is 
higher. It is almost certain that if cornplete data 
were available in the light of what we know from 
collateral evidence, that in 1948 the eliminations of 
aliens would hardly change the occupational distri­
bution in the Southern District o.f manual wcrkers 
one percentage point. But we can demonstrate, and 
have demonstrated that on the basjs of 1940 data it 
changes it just 2.5, approximately. 

Q. You say there was a table prepared that tabulate:s 
this data~ Is that the one which also deals with illiteracyf 
A. No, Tables X-A and B were present in court earlier; I 
know they were offered for exhibits. Whether they were 
accepted, I don't know. 

Q. Now, did you take into account the impact, if any-
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Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, might we 
ascertain whether or not these tables are going in f 

Mr. Gladstein: I am having them checked, and I 
thought I would just go ahead and we would come 
back to that, as soon as they were found. 

( 3023) The Court : Well, you are not trying to 
offer over again the ones I rejected the other day, 
are you? 

Mr. Gladstein: I was going to go ahead to an­
other subject, but I was having these looked for since 
the witness asked about them. I don't know whether 
you rejected them or not. I do not know that you 
did. 

The Court: Well, we can see that when you :find 
that, and perhaps it won't take but a minute or two. 
We can pause. It is confusing to go from subject to 
subject and then ,come back again. For instance, I 
find the subject of alienage referred to in my notes 
for the third time with this single witness. 

What is the new subject you are going to, so I 
can see what else I have got in rny notes about it 
before you go into it. 

Mr. Gladstein: I beg your pardon 7 
The Court: I say, what is the new subject you 

are going into so that while you are looking for those 
exhibits I can find what else I have got in my notes 
on the subject~ 

Mr. Gladstein: The question of tabulated effect. 
of the fact that certain classes in the labor pool are 
unemployed. Perhaps we could have these marked. 
I do not find any record indicating that we have ever 
offered these, your Honor. 

(3024) The Clerk: X-A and X-B were never 
even marked, your Honor . 

• • • 
Mr. Gladstein: Mark these, please. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 141 and 
142 for identification.) 

• • • 

LoneDissent.org



1400 

Doxey A. Wilkerson--for Defendants on Challenge­
Recalled-Direct 

The Clerk: 141 is Table X-A; 142 is Table X-B. 
(3025) Mr. :.McGohey: If your Honor please, 

with respect to Exhibit 141 for identification, which 
is designated as Table X-A, I object to the intro­
duction of that because it appears from the testi­
mony of the witness that be has been comparing this 
rna tter of aliens against the total gainfully em­
ployed population shown in the census. It has been 
previously testified that that includes a group be­
tween the ages of 14 and 21, and that the inclusion 
of that age group here seems to me clearly would dis­
tort the picture. I object to the introduction of Chal­
lenge Exhibit 141 for identification on the ground 
that it is misleading. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I say a word on behalf of 
both of these exhibits 0l 

Mr. McGohey: If are going to talk about both 
of them, maybe I ought to state my objections to 
142. 

The Court : I think you had better take one 
at a time. I have heard what your objection is to 
141. 

What have you to say about thatT 
Mr. Gladstein: 141 is simply a comparison giv­

ing the figures and calculations, a co1npariJ.Son of 
those people who are gainfully occupied who on the 
one hand are citizens and who on the other hand 
are aliens, showing the occupational distribution 
into which they fall and comparing the same two 
age groups, that is to say, all those ( 3026) who 
are reported by the United States Census as being 
gainfully occupied. So what in effect you are doing 
is taking the labor force, the figures for the labor 
force as given to us by the Government figures, 
and showing on a table what proportion of the labor 
force consists of citizens and what proportion con­
sists of aliens, and also showing the occupational 
breakdown made here in connection with the four 
groupings into which they fall. 
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The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
Now, what is the objection to 142T 
Mr. Gladstein: Have I stated everything1 
The Witness: Yes-you left out one point that 

is very important. 
Mr. Gladstein: \Vould the Court permit the 

witness to state what I failed to state 1 May I have 
the witness state that so the record will have the 
statement? 

The Court: I don't understand what you mean. 
Mr. Gladstein: In describing the exhibit I did 

not mention a point which the witness desires to 
call to the Court's attention. I desire to have him 
do so for the record, if the Court will permit it. 

The Court : Well, you may come up to the wit­
ness chair and ask him what it is, and then put it in 
a question. I don't like the idea of asking him 
general ( 3027) questions about whether he has 
something on his mind or something he wants to 
say and all that. You find out what it is and then 
ask him a question. 

(Mr. Gladstein approached the witness and con­
fers briefly.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, will recall the wit­
ness has already given testimony showing that the 
exclusion from our calculations of the people be­
tween 14 and 21, and, on the other hand, those above 
70, produces no effect on the validity of the com­
parisons and analyses made. Consequently this is a 
valid base on which to make a comparison between 
citizens and aliens. We have already made-

The Court: I think I understand all that per­
fectly, and I understand also the objection, and I 
sustain the objection. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
The Court: Now how about 1421 
Mr. McGohey: Now with respect to 142, your 

Honor, I urge the same point, that there is included 
in 142 aliens between the ages of 14 and 21, and 
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that in addition I want to call the Court's attention 
to the fact that this table concerns itself with the 
distribution of immigrant aliens and of all gain­
fully occupied workers in the whole United States 
and not for the City of New (3028) York, and I 
object to that on the ground that on those two 
grounds it is misleading. 

The Court: Yes. We could go on and having 
literally thousands of charts. We have had so many 
of them. I think what you desire to place upon the 
record here is sufficiently clear to me now. I will 
sustain the objection. 

By Mt. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you turn to the question of certain groups of 
unemployed who are tabulated by the Census and state 
whether you made a study to ascertain what, if any, effect 
the factor of unemployment had upon the validity of your 
analysis and conclusions as to the occupational dis­
tribution among the gainfully employed and among those 
eligible for jury service~ A. Our analysis of the occupa­
tional distribution was based upon what the census re­
ports as gainfully employed, 14 years of age and over, but 
it excludes certain categorie13 which are eligible for jury 
service and present in the population. It excludes emer­
gency workers in the three counties, Bronx, Manhattan 
and Westchester, and the data also excludes experienced 
persons seeking employment in the County of Westchester. 
The question-

The Court: Just Westchester 1 
(3029) The Witness: Just Westchester. 
The Court: Just a moment now. All right. 

A. (Continuing) The question is, then, does the fact that 
these two categroies of unemployed persons-in terms of 
the census definition of unemployed-are not included-

The Court: You dropped your voice there and 
I didn't hear it. 
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The Witness: The question to which I am ad­
dressing myself is this: does the fact that the census 
occupational data which we analyzed and on the 
basis of which we prepared these charts don't in­
clude these two categories of unemployed who are 
eligible for jury service, according to law-does that 
fact- ' 

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me, Mr. Wilkerson. 
When you say these charts do you mean the charts 
that are before you here~ 

The WitnesR: I am referring to Challenge Ex-
hibit 67-

Mr. McGohev: 67 and 67-A? 
The Witnes;: And 67 -A. 
Mr. Gladstein: There are also some other charts 

which are rejected exhibits but show the occupa­
tional distribution of the jurors, your Honor will 
recall, over a series of panels. 

(3030) The Court: I really have not tried to 
charge my mind with the evidence that has been re­
jected, and I really don't remember them. But let 
us keep our mind on this. He starts out with the 
unemployed and the effect of the factor of unemploy­
ment on the occupational distribution. 

The Witness: That is right. 
The Court: Then he went on and said that the 

census figures exclud€d emergency workers and also 
experienced persons seeking employment in \Vest­
chester. And then is when I went off the track. But 
what I am thinking there is, does he really mean 
that~ Because I thought the unemployed was a very 
much more inclusive group that just the emergency 
workers. I suppose those are WP A workers; j s 
that what you mean~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Will vou answer thaU 
The Witness: Mostly, not entirely, and we are 

using the terms aR the Census Bureau uses the 
terms. What they call emergency workers and what 
they call experienced workers seeking employm.ent 
are what we are now including in their occupational 
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distribution, though they were not included in the 
basic analyses that were made. 

Mr. McGohey: If your I-Ionor please-

Q. When you say ''the basic analyses''-

( 3031) The Court: Just a second. vVhat do you 
say, Mr. lYlcGohey~ 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, in view 
of Mr. Gladstein's observation concerning the charts 
which were offered and rejected by the Court, I 
object now to any testimony from the witness at 
this time concerning any data reflected in those 
charts. And, furthermore, I call the Court's at­
tention to the fact that this line of testimony ap­
pear~S to be repetitious because it s-eems to me, at 
least, that we are now going over the same field 
that was gone over in the examination of Mr. Wilk­
erson, I think back on February 1st, as appears on 
page 2127 of the transcript. 

The Court: 2127 ~ Let me find that. It certainly 
is piling up. (Examining.) 

Oh, yes, we went all over that. 
Mr. Gladstein: Was this covered before? 
The Court: Oh, yes. I have a lot in my notes 

about that under this date of February 1st. 
Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, during that testi­

mony-
The Court: I-Iere is what he concluded. The 

witness says the effect is very slight. If anything the 
effect -would be to raise the manual workers slightly, 
a very trivial factor. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is just what I wanted to 
(3032) come to. 

The Court: What is the use in going over it 
again then1 

Mr. Gladstein: I wanted to get a precise defin­
ition from the witness of what he meant by" slight" 
or "trivial." I want that clear in the r,ecords so there 
\von 't be any argument about it. 
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The Court: I do not think we need to worry 
about that. He has been using the same sort of 
phraseology about these other ones, and I am not 
going to have him start with this one and then go 
over all those again. So will you please drop that 
subject. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I ask the witness to state 
if he is able to in tenns of percentage or decimal 
point what his answer should be regarded as mean­
ing when he says ''slight" in that context? 

The Court: No, I do not think I need it sliced 
that thin. 

1\tfr. Gladstein: Well, I will ask the witness 
whether he has n1ade a calculation and i1.3 capable 
of giving that for the record. 

The Court : vV ell, I think you had just better 
drop that subject. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor won't permit me to 
ask the witness that question~ 

( 3033) The Court: No. I think you have 
brought out all that you need to about that. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, did you give attention to the 
impact of illiteracy~ I believe you have testified to some 
extent on that subject and you made some charts, is that 
right f A. Yes, that is right. 

1\{r. McGohey: Now, if your Honor please, I 
make the same objection to this line of questioning. 
I haven't quite yet got the page in the record where 
we went over this, but my recollection is that we 
did. 

The Court: I think I can find it in my notes 
in a mon1ent, so if you will just pause for a brief 
interval, Mr. Gladstein, while I can see what I can 
find. 

Mr. McGohey: I think your Honor will recall 
we had some exhibits put in consisting of the forms 
of examination that the State Board of Regents 
requires voters to take. 
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The Court: Yes. 
11:r. Gladstein: That had to do with politics. 
The Court: Here, I think I have it. 
Mr. :McGohey: lvfr. Clerk, can you tell what date 

Exhibit 106 went in~ 
The Clerk: February 7th. 
The Court: Yes. In the afternoon of February 7 

(3034) this subject was covered. For instance, I 
have in here, estimated illiteracy in 1940 by race, 
Exhibit 106, native white, 1.1; foreign born white, 
12.6; Negro, 3.9; others, 24.3; and a great deal of 
other data on the subject. Now what is the use of 
going over it all over again? 

Mr. Gladstein: I seem to recall the question was 
raised, and the witness was asked to have precise 
reference to sources, and there were some questions 
raised concerning a table that was marked for iden­
tification, and if I recall the colloquy we agreed to 
return to that subject later and supply the source 
reference .. That is my recollection. 

The Court: Then go ahead and show us the 
source reference and then be done with it. That is 
a perfectly proper thing to do. 

Q. Did you prepare a memorandum on the question of 
he impact of illiteracy on your-

The Court : You know-
Mr. Gladstein: I am about to bring out-
The Court: You know, Mr. Gladstein, it is won­

derful, it really is. You hear me; you appear to ac­
quiesce; and then you go right ahead and do just 
the opposite. 

Now if there is a reference to some source 
(3035) material, just get out the source material 
and we will have it identified and there it will be. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I think it is referred to 
in an exhibit, and I was going to ask if an exhibit 
has been prepared. 
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The Court: Well, just get the part of the ex­
hibit that refers to the source material, and then 
with your natural intelligence you will only read the 
part that has to do with the source material and 
eliminate the rest, because you may assume that I 
shall regard it as repetitious. 

The Witness: If it may help Mr. Gladstein, it 
is Table XI-A and XI-B, with a page of notes-! 
think they have been entered as exhibits-

The Court: Mr. Wilkerson, do you know what 
those source materials are that Mr. Gladstein is 
speaking of? 

The Witness : I do. 
The Court: Will you just enumerate them for 

the record, please~ 
The Witness: Without telling you what they 

relate to, your Honor? 
The Court: If they relate to a certain exhibit 

you may identify the exhibit, yes. 
The Witness: Very well. Table No. XI-A-per­

haps you had better find out the exhibit number and 
(3036) whether it is entered as an exhibit-there 
were certain questions, your Honor-

The Court: Now, now. If, as Mr. Gladstein has 
told me, there was a time when certain source mate­
rial was not adequately identified, and I said bring 
it up later and identify it, which I am now doing­
and so you will kindly merely read what is the title 
of the books or such other source material as you 
have ·with an additional reference to the exhibit to 
which it relates. 

The Witness: Table XI-B gives the procedure 
and arithmetic for calculating estimated maximum 
illiteracy-

The Court: Strike it out. 
The Witness: I am going to refer to those­
The Court: Well, you are not going to do it. 

You are going to do, Mr. Wilkerson, just exactly 
what I direct you to do, nothing more and nothing 
less, and I am now directing you to enumerate the 

LoneDissent.org



1408 

Doxey A. Wilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge­
Recalled-Direct 

books or other source material. Now that means 
without all this circumlocution and explanatory mat­
ter and so on, to say Census, 1940, dated so and so­
bang. Then you get to the next-such and such a 
title, such and such a book-there it is. Now that 
is what I am telling you to do. 

The Witness: Did I understand that you per­
mitted me to relate these sources to the exhibits~ 

The Court: To a paper, and you have done that. 
( 3037) The Witness: That is what I was about 

to do. 
The Court: You said P·-12-I don't remember 

the number of it. 
The Witness: It is XI-B. 
The Court: XI-B. 
The Witness: And I was going to give its title. 

You don't want that? 
The Court: We can all read, you know, and find 

it easily enough. Now go ahead and tell us what 
is the source material that relates to that paper. 

. The Witness: The calculations reported in XI-B 
are with data obtained from these sources: 16th 
Census of the United States, Population, Second 
Series, New York, Table XXI, which gives the in. 
formation for Westchester; B-39, which gives infor­
mation for Bronx; and F-39, which gives information 
for :Nianhattan. Also U. S. Bureau of Census, Cur· 
rent Population Reports, Series P-20, No. 20, 
illiteracy in the United States, which is Exhibit 85. 

Do you want this, Mr. Gladstein~ 
Mr. Gladstein: Exhibit 85 in evidence~ 
The Witness: Yes. October 1947. 
The Court : Is that all~ 
The Witness: That is all for XI-B. 
Mr. :McGohey: If your Honor please, may I ask 

for a copy of XI-B with respect to which the witness 
is (3038) talking~ It does not appear to have 
been marked. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is right. It has not been. 
I am going to have it marked. 
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1Ir. IvicGohey: I should like to have a copy so 
I can understand. 

The Court: If it has not been marked it is rather 
curious that that should have been the one that you 
say the question came up the other day about indi­
cating the source material. 

The Witness: It was prepared in answer to that 
question, your Honor. 

The Court: Well, anyway, you say it was. 
The \Vitness: It was. 
The Court: And perhaps it is so. I don't doubt 

it. I don't want to raise a question about it. 
lVIr. Gladstein: It is so, your Honor. 
The Court : Very well. 

By Mr. Glad stein: 

Q. Now, you started to enumerate some other sources-
A. Yes, which relate to the question of­

Q. Illiteracy? 

(3040) 

The Court : The other sources relate to another 
paper. 

1fr. Gladstein: Illiteracy: The same subject 
matter of illiteracy. 

(3039) The Court: I know. 
The Witness: Those are all the sources on 

illiteracy. 

(Recess to 2.30 p. m.) 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

DoxEY A. WILKERSON, resunwd the stand. 

1fr. M:cGohey: Just before the luncheon recess 
your I-Ionor asked that you be referred to the place 
in the transcript of the testimony where the sub­
ject of literacy was testified to. 
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I call your Honor's attention to page 2764 and 
running on to somewhere around 2792, I think, I 
think it ends about 2792. 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: During the testimony which is 

recorded in those pages the subject was literacy 
and a table which appears as Defendants' Challenge 
Exhibit 106 was introduced giving some figures with 
respect to literacy. 

The Court: Now what was the document that 
Mr. Gladstein said I had ruled that he could later 
supply the sources~ Was there such a document1 

Mr. McGohey: I don't recall any such document, 
your Honor. I can't say categorically that there 
was not, but I don't have any recollection of it and 
I don't find any reference to it in here. 

The Court: Can you refer me to such colloquy 
or reference in the minutes, 1\fr. Gladstein~ 

(3041) Mr. Gladstein: There are a number of 
references that I can direct the Court's attention to. 

The Court : Well, one good one will be enough. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, on page 2181. 
The Court: 2181. Just a second, until I find 

it. 2181 ~ You are still on literacy now 7 
Mr. Gladstein: That was the question of the 

impact of aliens and illiteracy on the occupational 
classifications. Your Honor will see-

The Court: Just a second. 2181. Yes, that 
has reference to the letter that has already been 
marked in evidence. 

:Nir. Gladstein: And to the fact that we were 
considering the effect of alienage and illiteracy 
together. 

The Court: Yes ; but you said this morning 
that there was some paper that had been marked for 
identification and that I had stated that you might 
later supply the statement of sources and that you 
were addressing yourself to that subject with Mr. 
Wilkerson this morning. And I ·say, what is that 
paper and where is the reference in the minutes to 
my statement that you might later supply the proof? 
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~1r. Gladstein: I don't recall that I made that 
statement; I may have been in error in making that 
statement. But I do know that during the course 
of J\!Ir. vVilkerson's (3042) testimony on a num­
ber of occasions he was asked as to the source of 
the information that he was testifying to and on 
several occasions he stated that he would be ready 
to supply that in documented form. I have a couple 
of Teferences to various portions of his testimony 
of that kind. 

The Court : Well, all I would like is one ; the 
first one you referred me to turns out not to be 
one. The first reference to page 2181 has to do 
with the letter. The letter has already been re­
ceived in evidence so that it will be quite unneces­
sary to lay a further foundation for that. 

J\!Ir. Gladstein: Your Honor will notice that I 
said "in view of the fact that the witness has been 
considering both the question of aliens and the 
question of illiteracy to some extent together, I 
would suggest that we move to the next subject, the 
next one of those factors, and that is the question 
of exemptions.'' 

Then your Honor made some remarks as to 
whether or not the letter dealt with anything other 
than aliens, as to whether or not it would deal with 
illiteracy, and then you said "I suppose I may 
assume that there is, as you say, and that the two 
go together, the alienage and the illiteracy." 

Then I said, ''I think the evidence will show 
(3043) to some extent there is a relationship." 

The Court: Yes, but what we were talking about 
was your statement that there was some document 
with respect to which I had stated that you could 
supply proof later and that you were addressing 
yourself to that proof. And if that is so, I desire 
to permit you to do what you say I promised to 
allow you to do. If on the contrary it does not 
so appear, my disposition is to direct you to address 
yourself to some other subject with the witness. I 
think perhaps the best thing for you to do is to 
turn to something else. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I will ask the clerk to mark for 
identification three exhibits, one designated Table 
XI-A. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 143 marked for 
identification.) 

J\IIr. Gladstein: Another document (handing to 
clerk). 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 144 for 
identification.) 

The Court: How did you designate the second 
one~ The first one was Table XI-A. 

Mr. Gladstein: The second is errata dealing 
with Table XI-A. They could be connected physically 
but the clerk has already marked them the way 
he has. 

(3044) The Court: That is all right. 
What are they~ 145 and 146 for identification T 
The Clerk: 143 and 144. 
The Court: Thank you. 
Mr. Gladstein: The next is two pages desig­

nated as Table XI-B and notes to that table. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 145 for 
identification.) 

Mr. Gladstein: And Table XI-E. 

(11arked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 146 for 
identification.) 

Direct examinati.on continued by lkl r. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, 11r. Wilkerson, was Table 143 for identification. 
and the companion exhibit, Challenge Exhibit 144 for 
identification, prepared by you or under your supervision f 
A. They were. 

Q. Are the sources from which the data were taken 
norrectly and fully shown on those exhibits~ A. They are. 

Q. Calculations were made by yon 1 A. They were. 
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Q. Are all the figures and data appearing thereon true 
and correct?- A. Yes. 

Q. \Vhat is the subject matter of this exhibit and the 
companion exhibit containing the errata~ A. The maxi­
mum effect of both occupational distribution- (3045) 
or rather, the maximum effect upon the occupational dis­
tribution of gainful workers of eliminating both aliens 
and illiterates from those considered in the analysis of 
occupations heretofore made, together. 

Q. Now I sho·w you Table XI-B. Was that similarly 
prepared under your direction 1 A. It was. 

Q. And does it correctly show the sources from which 
the information shown thereon was taken~ A. It does. 

Q. Are the tabulations and the data set forth therein 
true and correct~ A. Correct. 

Q. What does this table show? A. That table shows 
data. and procedures and sources for calculating illiteracy 
among gainful workers in JYianhattan, Bronx and West­
chester, 1940. 

Q. Now, Table XI-E, which has been marked Challenge 
Exhibit 146 for identification-! show you this and ask 
you if that was similarly prepared under your supervision~ 
A. It was. 

Q. Does it correctly show the sources from which it 
was taken?- A. It does. 

Q. That is, the information shown thereon was taken 1 
A. Yes. · 

Q. Is it true and correct~ A. It is. 
Q. What does it deal with~ A. It -shows percentage of 

people in different occupational categories with less than 
( 3046) five years education in Northeastern States, 1940. 

Q. Now, on the basis of your study-

The Court: Just a second, Mr. Gladstein. 
Will you read that. 

(Answer read.) 

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me, may I ask, your 
Honor, if that is five years education or five years 
of schooling. 
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The Court: Five years of schooling, I take it, 
you meant~ 

The Witness : That is correct. 

Q. Now, on the basis of your studies and the informa­
tion contained in these exhibits, state, if you will, the 
maximum possible modification to which the evidence that 
you have given would be subject in so far as it deals with 
the occupational breakdown of gainfully occupied popu­
lation in this district-

Mr. McGohey: I object to any testimony of the 
witness from these tables referred to unless they 
are in evidence. 

The Court: Yes. Let Mr. Gladstein finish the 
question. 

Mr. McGohey: Oh, I beg your pardon, Mr. Glad­
stein. I thought he had finished. 

The Court: I don't think so. 
Mr. McGohey: I withdraw the objection until 

(3047) the question is completed. 
Mr. Gladstein: I will reframe it: I direct your 

attention to Exhibit 67 in evidence showing the 
occupational distribution of the gainfully occupied 
portion of the people of this district. What, on the 
basis of your study and the data that you have 
testified to would be the maximum pos-sible modi­
fication of Exhibit 67 that could, be produced by the 
facts concerning illiteracy and alienage as factors 
among the people in this district who are eligible 
otherwise for jury duty? 

Mr. McGohey: Now, I object, your Honor, to 
any testimony by the witness until these exhibits 
are offered. 

The Court: Well, I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: I will offer in evidence Chal­

lenge Exhibits 145t 146, 143 and 144. 
Mr. McGohey: For identification. 
Mr. Gladstein: They have been marked for 

identification. I will offer them in evidence. 
Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, we have 

some preliminary questions to ask the witness with 
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respect to Challenge Exhibit 145 for identification, 
and may we ask those-may Mr. Gordon proceed 
asking those questions while I look at the other 
exhibits being offered~ 

The Court : Yes. 

(3048) Preliminary cross examination by Mr. Gordon: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, do you have Exhibit 145 for identi­
fication before you, Table XI-B 1 A. XI-B ~ 

Q. Yes. A. I do not-oh, yes, I do have. 

Mr. Gordon: Perhaps I had better hand you 
the exhibit. 

Have you a copy, your Honor? 
The Court: I would like to have it, but if you 

need it-
Mr. Gordon: I have another one (handing). 
The Court: Thank you. 

Q. The first item which refers to total population for 
Manhattan, Bronx and Westchester comes from the Census 
for 1940? A. It does, second series, Population. 

·Q. And the figures below that for percents come from 
1947 Statistics? A. Are you referring to the 80.1 per 
cent and 20.2 per cent~ · 

Q. That is right. A. No. 
Q. Where do they come from f A. I testified earlier 

that one of the exhibits-
Q. I wonder if you could just answer-

The Court: That is the part that always con­
fuses me. Why don't you just answer the question 7 

Mr. Gladstein: The witness was starting to. 
( 3049) The Court : He goes off into a lot. of 

explanation that nobody is asking him for. 
Mr. Gladstein: The witness was beginning to 

answer the question when your Honor interrupted. 
The Court : I know he was beginning but I will 

strike out what he said and ask that the question 
he repeaterl to him. 
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The Witness: Current Population report, illit­
eracy in the United States, October 1947, Table IV. 

Q. Then the answer to my question is Yes 1 

The Court: That is right. 

Q. Now let us take this item here of illiterates 2 and 
3. Those are based upon the U. S. relationship, then, 
aren't they 1 A. They are. 

Q. For the entire country~ A. They are-no, wait a 
minute-part of 3 is. The 80 per cent is based on aU. S. 
relationship. 

Q. Yes~ A. Now, if I get your question, you want to 
know whether we used U. S. relationship ratio as a basis 
for estimating the illiteracy in New York City1 Is that 
your question? 

Q. Yes. A. That is correct. 
Q. Then this total, item 2, that would be a percent for 

people 14 and over? A. No. 
Q. Are you sure 1 Are you sure you were not applying 

(3050) a figure of 14 and over to the number of people 
25 and over? A. May I refer to an exhibit that is in evi­
dence in answer to this question 1 

Mr. Gladstein: Which one do you want 1 
The Witness: It is an exhibit entitled Illiteracy 

in the United States, October 1947. I think it is 85. 
It was in the court this morning. 

(Exhibit banded to witness.) 

The Witness: Now, your question again, Mr. 
Gordon1 

Q. The question was, weren't you dealing under item 2, 
3, 4 and 5 with statistics for people 14 and over? A. That 
is correct. 

Q. And applying them to item 1 which pertains to 
census statistics for a population 25 and over? A. That 
is correct. 
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Q. Now, when you come down to item 12 you are taking 
the relationship between the United States and this area 
of three counties which you referred to this morning, 
New York, Bronx and Westchester for persons 25 and 
over, and saying that the same relationships holds for 
persons 14 and over~ A. That is correct. 

Mr. Gordon: The basis for the objection, your 
Honor, is that it is misleading to compare census 
(3051) statistics for different years. 

The Court: Do you object~ 
Mr. Gladstein: May I ask a question of the 

witness to clear that up~ 
The Court: Yes. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. :Mr. Wilkerson, did you have a reason for applying 
the data in the manner that you have just described~ A. 
I did. 

Q. Will you state what that reason was~ A. The pro­
cedure used is the one used by the Census in analyzing 
or, rather, estimating illiteracy. The data provided by 
the Census for the United States are 14 over data. The 
data available to us are 25 and over for the three counties­
yes-no, this is not the answer to the question. The 
answer to your question is this : In the first place, we 
have established by an earlier exhibit that there is an 
extremely small percentage of illiteracy in New York as 
compared with the nation. We don't have data available 
for exactly the age groups that the Census applies its 
ratios to. We do have data, however, which are relatively 
close thereto and the effect of which would be, since they 
are an older age group~ to increase unduly the estimate 
of illiteracy in the smaller age group. I wonder if you 
follow me there. 

(3052) Q. Will you develop that~ 

The Court: It is not so important that Mr. Glad­
stein follow you. I follow you all right, and I gather 
that that is what is important. 

The Witness: The effect---
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The Court: I see what you mean. 
Is there something further you desire to bring out 

before I rule? 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you explain, Mr. Wilkerson, what effect it would 
have, whether favorable to or unfavorable to the result 
that you have testified to, as to the effect of illiteracy upon 
the question of the occupational distribution of the popula­
tion or in terms of jury eligibility favorable to or unfavor­
able to this chart, 67 ~ A. The effect of the method we used 
would be to exaggerate the percentage of illiteracy among­
manual workers-yes, among workers, age 14 and above, 
who we planned to take out of that category, and hence it 
would be unfavorable to the premise which we are seeking 
to establish. 

Q. Bo that, in other words, the net result of that calcu­
lation would be to give the worst of it, so to speak, to the 
case of the defense on this challenge~ (3053) A. That is 
correct. 

The Court: I sustain the objection. 
Mr. Gordon: And, your Honor, with respect to 

the testimony just given, will you strike it out, since 
it seems to be based upon the exhibit which you have. 
now ruled out, the effect of that exhibit on these 
figures. 

The Court: In so far as they may be supposed 
to have evidentiary value. I find it has none, and I 
will strike it out. 

Mr. Gordon: Now, with respe·ct to Exhibit 143, 
your Honor-do you have that before you~ 

The Court: 143? No,· I have not. That dis-
poses of 145 for identification? 

Mr. Gordon: 143 and 144 are attached together. 
The Court: Yes. 
The Witness: May I ask what 143 is~ 
Mr. Gordon: I don't have it now any longer. 
The Court: 143 is table XI-A, and the attached 

sheet, 144 for identification, is the list of errata. 
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Mr. Gordon: Exhibit 143 for identification is ob­
jected to on the ground that it is obviously not ac­
curate inasmuch as it has Exhibit 144 attached to it 
proving its inaccuracy; and on the further ground 
that in the notes it appears that it is based upon 
Exhibit 145 which your Honor ha.s sustained an ob­
jection to. 

(3054) The Court: ·Objection sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: May I reply to the objection, 

your Honor~ 
The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: May I see the exhibit for a mo­

ment to reply~ 
The Court : You may. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now, if your Honor please, in 

support of our offer as to this exhibit, I point out 
first that the fact that No. 144 represents an effort at 
careful re·checking to ascertain the posHibility of any 
error in 143, is certainly no argument for not receiv­
ing an exhibit that has been subjected to not only 
double check but triple check. 

Moreover, proving on the face of the document 
that when the error that was ascertained is set forth 
and found, it does not change the percentage ratios 
at all and completely substantiates the conclusions 
that Mr. Wilkerson has placed in this exhibit in the 
first instance. In other words, even after ascertain­
ing that there was an error, the error had no effect 
whatsoever upon the calculations that he has. 

Now, as to the relationship with 145, that is no 
basis upon which to strike it or to refuse to receive 
143 and 144, which speak for themselves, and stand 
on (3055) their own feet, and they are entitled to 
be received. 

I offer it. 
The Court: The objection is sustained. 
Mr. Gordon: As to the Erxhibit 146, your Honor, 

the la·st one-would you pass this to the Judge, Mr. 
Clerk. 

(Exhibit handed to Court.) 
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Mr. Gordon (Continuing): That exhibit appears 
to be immaterial as far as the challenge is con­
cerned. And I ask your Honor to note that it per­
tains to statistics relating to the Northeastern 
States, and inasmuch as the Southern District of 
New York is contained within only one State, it is 
objected to a·s being incompetent. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I say a word on behalf of 
the exhibit~ 

The Court : Y e.s. 
Mr. Gladstein: This is merely to prove that the 

facts support and would support here an assumption 
that not all illiterates in the City of New York in the 
Bronx and Manhattan would be found among the 
manual workers. To the contrary, such data as is 
available from the ·census shows-

Mr. McGohey: I object to any testimony as to 
what this exhibit ,shows. 

The Court : Yes. 
(3056) Mr. Gladstein: I have not said any­

thing about what is in this exhibit yet. 
The Court: No, you were just going to. 
Mr. Gladstein: I was going to say nothing about 

the figures contained in it, but I was going to state a 
fact, your Honor, which, as a matter of fact, you 
could take judicial notice of, what is in the census 
tables, and the census tables contain evidence for the 
proposition that there are those in the executive 
class and in the clerical and sales class, and even 
some in the professional or semi-professional class, 
who are illiterate. But for the purpose of our 
testimony here we have made the absolutely incor­
rect and unjustified, to us, assumption, assuming for 
the purpose of this case, and taking the full brunt of 
that exaggeration and distortion, we have assumed 
for the sake of our testimony here that the gainful 
workers are the ones that you would find among the 
illiterate group, simply for the purpose of giving the 
benefit of any possible doubt to the prosecution's side 
on the question of this challege. And even so, the 
effect of giving them the benefit of that doubt is of no 
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significance whatsoever on the facts in this case. We 
do, however, desire the record to show that the cen­
sus would provide proof of the fact that there are 
illiterates to be found among professional, clerical 
and (3057) executive groups. 

The Court : I will sustain the objection. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now on the basis of all of your study and the testi­
mony that you have given, what is the maximum possible 
effect-! withdraw it. 

Q. Have you made a study of the possible effect on the 
chart 67 of the items of exemption that are found in the 
law dealing with jury duty~ A. I have. 

Q. And what did you find as a result of that¥ 

The Court : He has been over the exemption. 
Let me just find it in my notes here, if you will wait 
a moment. 

Mr. Gladstein: I was about to ·conclude with him, 
and I thought I would simply have him mention that 
fact briefly and sum up. 

The Court: Well, I would like to have before me 
my notes of the particular subject matter. Let me 
just look for it. 

Mr. Glad stein: I think your Honor will find it is 
in Table XII-A and Table XII-B. 

The Court: Well, you have got a great deal of 
material in on that. What is it that you desire to 
prove now1 

Mr. Gladstein: I desire merely to have the 
(3058) witness sum up as to the maximum impact, 
upon the testimony he has given here, as to the 
people who are eligible for jury duty of these fac­
tors that he has been discussing, giving testimony 
about. 

The Court : Well, he has already done that as 
to the persons exempt. 

Mr. Gladstein: .As to the what, your Honor? 
The Court : As to the persons exempt, which is 

the subject matter that you are now addressing your-
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self to. I do not desire it to be repeated or sum­
marized. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. I-Iave there been changes in occupational distribu­
tion among the potential jurors in this district during the 
course of the last nine years~ A. There have been some 
changes. 

Q. Have you made a study to ascertain the character of 
those changes~ A. I have. 

Q. What has been that study and the result~ A. The 
results of the study are reflected on the right part of Ex­
hibit 67, under the ,chart right there (indicating). 

Q. This portion now~ A. That is right. 
Q. What does that represent~ A. This represents trend 

lines 1940 to 1949 by panels, among the panels used in our 
basic 28 for the occupational analysis, indicating percent­
age that each category of occupations constitutes of the 
total among the jurors for those several ( 3059) panels. 

Q. How many panels were covered~ A. 28. 

The Court: Now you are off exemptions. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes. I am now asking him about 

the question of the trends in occupational distribu­
tions among the jury panels that he has examined. 

Q. Now your information for that portion of No. 67, 
which is the righthand portion, was taken from where 1 
A. That was taken from our tables analyzing the percent­
ages of occupations represented in the several jury panels. 

The Court: Based on the same panels that were 
used for Exhibit 67 ~ 

The Witness : That is right. 

Q. And does the right side of the chart accurately re­
flect the views as you found them upon analysis of the 
jury panels~ A. It does. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer that portion of the chart 
in evidence. 
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Mr. McGohey: May I have a minute or two, if 
your Honor please~ 

Mr. Isserman: May I ask one question, your 
Honor, before 1fr. McGohey does, if I may~ 

The Court: Yes. 

By Mr. lsserman: 

(3060) Q. I notice, Mr. Wilkerson, that there are 
four heavy seemingly straight lines through the other lines 
on the exhibit. What are those line·s ~ A. Those lines-

Q. Horizontal straight lines I am referring to. A. You 
are referring, I take it, not to the vertical but to the hori­
zontal line. 

Q. The horizontal line within the graph around which 
the lines which you have just described are drawn. A. 
Those lines indicate in each case the average percentage 
which jurors in that occupational category, that is, execu­
tive or ·clerical, or professional or manual, constitute of all 
jurors gainfully employed throughout the period covered 
by the map-that chart. 

The Court: Doesn't that chart tend very dis­
tinctly to disprove the defense contention that there 
was a -static figure for all these different occupa­
tional classifications~ From looking at it from here 
it seems to vary very considerably from year to 
year. I thought it had been contended here that it 
was always the same. 

Mr. Gladstein: I take it from your Honor's re­
marks that Mr. 1\{cGohey will have no objection to 
the receipt in evidence of that chart, and I am 
willing to stand on that. 

The Court: Well, I don't think that sort (3061) 
of remark is very helpful. 

I say, doesn't it tend to indicate that there has. 
been a change from year to year in each of these per­
centages~ Whereas you have been arguing to me 
that they had just the same number all the time and 
it was just part of a scheme that they predetermined 
in advance just what they were going to do and went 
ahead and did it. I say, doesn't this chart tend to 
disprove that~ 
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Mr. Gladstein: May I answer that question­
The Court: Certainly you may. 
Mr. Gladstein: After your Honor has ruled on 

the motion that I have now made to have this re­
ceived in evidence: I suppose we are waiting for 
Mr. McGohey-

The Court: Maybe I had better have your an­
!Swer read to me. 

(Record read.) 

The Court: Why do you want to wait until 
afterwards. 

Mr. Gladstein: The question that your Honor is 
asking me is whether this chart tends to disprove our 
thesis. Is that right 1 

The Court : Well, it seems so to me. 
Mr. Gladstein: T would prefer, as I say, to give 

my answer to that question after Mr. McGohey states 
whether he objects to the chart or not. 

( 3062) The Court: W el, you need not bother 
answering it at all. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, if your Honor says that, 
then I prefer to answer now. 

The Court: No, just let it go. I have every de­
sire to avoid controversy here and I will just let 
the matter drop. 

Preliminary cross examination by Mr. ]fcGohey: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, may I ask you-this has not been 
marked for identification-does this table here relate to the 
figures and percentages which appear in the table marked 
Exhibit 67 -D and which appear as table IV-B in your 
data 1 A. The percentages in IV-B are the basis for this 
chart. 

Q. And will you tell me what you rnean by the word 
"jur~rs" at the top of that chart? A. By that I mean 
gainfully employed, that is, we are dealing with the occu­
pations of jurors; we mean gainfully employed jurors who 
served or were called, listed, were listed on the 28 panels 
we analyzed in our occupational study. 

LoneDissent.org



1425 

Doxey A. Wilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge­
Preliminary-Cross 

Q. Year by year~ A. Year by year. 
Q. In other words, the lines within this space, from 

the heavy gray line to the :first horizontal line, would be 
the jurors that appear on the panels in 1940, is that 
(3063) so~ A. No. If I remember, there were for anum­
ber of years two panels we took per year. 

Q. Yes. A. Some years there were more. And the 
height of the line within the period-during 1940, reflects 
the point at which we took the jury panel. Do you follow 
me 1 What I am saying is this, that there are variations 
even within the year 1943, you will observe. 

Q. You misunderstood my question, Mr. Wilkerson. 
The line contained within the outer heavy perpendicular 
line and the first line, perpendicular line to the right of the 
heavy perpendicular line relates to jurors that were called 
for service in the year 1940, is that right~ A. On the 
panels which we analyzed. 

Q. On the panels which you analyzed. Yes. A. That is 
right. 

Mr. McGohey: Yes. That is all. 
The Court: Those panels which they analyzed, 

as shown in Table IV-B, Exhibit 67 -D, are 28, going 
from January 17, 1940, to January 17th first draw­
ing, I think, 1949. I mention that because I thought, 
Mr. ~1:cGohey, that you indicated you thought that 
was based upon 1940 panels. Perhaps' I did not-

11r. McGohey: I was only talking about the 
( 3064) area in this first section. 

The Court: Oh, yes. The bench here has o~ 
scured from my view the dates down at the bottom 
of the chart. So I understand. That is quite all 
right. 

By ]}fr. McGohey: 

Q. May I ask, Mr. Wilkerson, if in plotting out those 
lines housewives were considered~ A. Those lines refer 
to gainfully employed jurors, which necessarily means they 
excude housewives and retired persons. They are percent­
ages based upon the total gainfully employed jurors. 
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Mr. McGohey: I can't ascertain, your Honor, 
what probative value this may have, but I certainly 
haven't any objection to it going in, if we can move 
on. 

The Court: All right. 
Mr. Gladstein: Is it received in evidence, your 

Honor~ 
The Court: It seems to me to reflect what is 

in the other exhibits. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 147 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, looking at Challenge Exhibit 
147 in evidence, wil you summarize what that exhibit 
shows' A. It shows first that there has been considerable 
fluctuation in the percentage which executives ( 3065) 
comprise of jurors on panels from time to time, extend­
ing from the low point of about 37 to the high point of 
about 63. 

Q. Per cent f A. Percent of the total gainfully occu­
pied jurors on different panels. There is a considerable 
fluctuation with reference to clerical "\Vorkers, the fluctua­
tion extending from about 26-24 per cent in one of the 
recent panels to about 37 per cent. This is the range of the 
fluctuation. 

Q. Over the course of the nine-year period f A. Over 
the course of the nine-year period. The percentage of 
professional workers or employed persons constitutes­
of employed jurors on these panels has fluctuated from 
about 91j2 per cent to about 26 per cent during the course 
of the nine-year period. 

The percentage of manual workers has fluctuated, but 
by reference to the chart you can see the fluctuation is not 
so gr~eat, and the limits of such fluctuation have been from 
one per cent to about 9¥2 per cent. At no time during 
the course of the nine-year period for all of the 28 panels 
analyzed were there as many, or rather, did manual 
workers constitute as much as 10 per cent of the gainfully 
occupied jurors on the panel. 
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The Court: The fluctuations appear to me to 
be even more marked in the case of the manual 
workers. 

( 3066) The Witness : The range, your Honor, 
is from 1 to 9. 

The Court: Yes, I know about the range. 
The Witness: Quite a smaller range than you 

will find with any of these others. 
The Court: Well, it seems to n1e that as far as 

fluctuation goes, there is n1ore of it there than in 
the others. But that appears on the face of the 
chart, so that-

Mr. Glad stein: On the fact of the chart, if your 
Honor will notice, the line for manual workers is 
the five per cent line, s01netimes above, sometimes 
below. The line where you see the professionals and 
semi-professionals is the 15 per cent line or better, 
although sometimes below that. The line for the 
clerical and sales employees is around the 30 per 
cent line. 

The Court : Yes, I know. 
Mr. Gladstein: And the line for the executives 

is the 45 per cent line or better. 
Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, as a matter 

of keeping the record straight, we now have the one 
exhibit with two exhibit numbers. 

The Witness: Three. 
Mr. Isserman: The lefthand side of that exhibit 

I believe was previously marked. And the record 
should (3067) note that the two exhibits are one, 
because otherwise in the future somebody will be 
looking for them without finding them. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Isserman: I can't see from here the number 

of the previous exhibit. 
The Witness: 67. 
The Court: The other one is 67. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now on the basis of all the testimony that you have 
given that has been received, what is the n1axi1num possible 
impact in terms of percentage upon that portion of the 
chart No. 67, as appears on the lefthand side, that is to 
say, the data as to the people, all of the factors of possible 
jury disqualification~ 

Mr. McGohey: If your IIonor please, may I 
have the question read again~ I didn't quite hear it. 

The Court: You may. 

(Question read.) 

l\fr. McGohey: Your Honor, I object to that. 
The Court : Sustained. 
lVIr. Gladstein: Vl ell, I will try to reframe it. 

Q. I want you to state, on the basis of your studies and 
the testimony that you have given that has been received, 
what is the maximum possible effect in terms (3068) of 
reducing or increasing the percentage figure shown for 
the respective groupings on chart 67 of each and all in 
combination of the factors of jury disqualification, such 
as being under age or over age, and so on~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. I don't think he need 

any further summarization. You have got the chart 
in, you have got a great number of other charts in 
If there is any summarizing to be done, why, you can 
put it in such memorandum as you desire to submit 
to me. 

Mr. Gladstein: If the Court thinks that that is 
adequate, all right. 

You may cross-examine. 
The Court : Do you desire a short recess' 
Mr. lVIcGohey: Might we take the recess, the 

mid-afternoon recess now? 
The Court : Yes. 

(Short recess.) 
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Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, there is in 
the witness room two officials, one from the l\![etro­
politan Life Insurance Company and one from a 
banking institution, who would be very short wit­
nesses. One would be disposed of in about three 
to five minutes and the other one about ten to 
twelve. 

The Court: What do you desire to prove by 
( 3069) the man from the Metropolitan~ 

Mr. Isserman: l\1r. Gove, vice-president of the 
J\iletropolitan, would testify to certain facts concern­
ing the Parkchester development. 

The Court: What are those facts~ 
Mr. Isserman: Those facts include-
The Court: Well, I don't want a partial state­

ment. Tell me what you are going to prove. 
~fr. Isserman: Well, I am trying to say it as 

succinctly as I can. Five or six facts. 
The Court : All right. 
:.Mr. Isserman: One fact is the location of Park­

chester, number of tenants it has, the number of 
people it has, the work classification, the classifica­
tions of the people within Parkchester fro1n the 
standpoint of 1nanual workers and others, the in­
come levels of the people of Parkchester, the racial 
character, composition of Parkchester, showing that 
no Negroes whatsoever live there. And a few facts 
which are in the nature of the development on which 
he has a brochure. 

The Court: Do you have any objection to that, 
Mr. McGohey f 

1fr. McGohey: I do, your Honor. 
The Court: Very well. vVe will go on with the 

cross-examination of this witness. 
(3070) l\fr. l\!IcGohey: ~fay the record show 

that the defendant Potash is not here this after­
noon? 

~1r. Sacher: He is attending to union business, 
your Honor, and he waives his presence here, and I 
understand the others do, too. 
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Mr. Isserman: If I may have another moment. 
The other witness would n1erely identify two maps 
and indicate the name of the person who was actu­
ally in charge of the preparation of same. It is 
purely preliminary matter and could be disposed of 
in three minutes. 

The Court: Well, I am not disposed to change 
things around here now, and we will go ahead with 
this cross-examination. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, with re­
spect to the maps that Mr. Isserman just talks about, 
I believe that they are probably the same maps that 
were the subject of a subpoena addressed to the 
Attorney General, which was quashed yesterday, 
and the basis for the motion to quash was that even 
if the maps were produced they would be objected 
to, and I think the Court indicated that an objection 
would be sustained as to those maps. 

The Court: Are those the maps, Mr. Isserman f 
Mr. Isserman : Yes, they are the maps. 
The Court : Well, if they are, I think you 

(3071) may excuse the witness because-
Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, I would like 

to have the maps in question marked for identifica­
tion. 

The Court: You may do so. I will make the 
same ruling that I made yesterday and exclude it. 

Mr. McGohey: May I proceed, your Honor7 
The Court: Well,-
Mr. Isserman: I mean, have the maps marked 

and make an offer with respect to them, or state 
my objection, at least, to the excusing of the witness. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 148 and 
149 for identification.) 

The Court: How can you have any objection 
to my excusing the witness when I have excused him 
upon the basis of the assumption that he would tes­
tify to what you said he would testify to~ 

Mr. Isserman : Well, that was not my under­
standing of your Honor's ruling. I understand your 
Honor'1s ruling is that the maps will not be admitted. 
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The Court : Yes. And so I say there is no use 
in having the man stay here to identify the maps, 
because I am not going to allow the maps to go in 
evidence. 

Mr. Isserman: My objection is to the refusal 
(3072) to allow the maps in evidence, and I would 
like to be heard on it, your Honor. If not, I would 
like to state my objections for the record to your 
Honor's ruling after the maps have been identified. 

The Court: Well, we went all over that yester­
day. 

Mr. Isserman: The maps were not in the court­
room yesterday, your Honor, and they were not de­
,scribed. 

The Court : Well, if you were not in the court­
room-

Mr. Isserman: I was in the courtroom but the 
maps were not. 

The Court : You described them yesterday didn't 
you1 

J\1r. Isserman : I did not. They were described 
merely from the standpoint of reference to certain 
litigation, and I now have the maps-

The Court: Well, I heard a description of them, 
perhaps it was by Mr. Gladstein. But however that 
may be, I am taking that description as accurate 
and I am adhering to the ruling I made yesterday, 
and I desire no further argument. 

~fr. Isserman: Then your Honor refues to al­
low me to state my objection to the exclusion of the 
maps which are now marked Challenge Exhibit 148 
for identification (307.3) and Exhibit 149 for iden­
tification~ 

The Court : I do. You can tell the witness he 
may go. 

Mr. Isserman: I will excuse the witness. 
Mr. McGohey: Mr. Wilkerson, will you please 

put away your notes t If you have occasion to 
require any of the papers that are marked for iden-
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tification or in evidence, if you will call for them we 
will try to supply them for you. 

Cross examination by Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Prior to your testin1ony in this case, Mr. Wilkerson, 
have you ever testified in any other case in court T A. In 
an assault case. 

Q. I beg your pardon~ A. I testified once in an assault 
case. 

Q. Well, did you ever testify to statistical data and 
statistical compilations, as you have here~ A. Not in a 
court. I have before Congressional Committees. 

Q. What I am trying to ask you, have you ever testi­
fied as a witness for one side or another in an adversary 
proceeding in a court~ A. I have not. 

Q. Are you being paid as a witness to testify in this 
case~ A. I am not. 

Q. Now, as I understand you to have testified that the 
(3074) exhibits presented through you here-that is, all 
of the exhibits, the tables and the maps and the charts­
were either prepared by you or were prepared under your 
direction; is that correct~ A. That is core ct. 

Q. I also understand your testimony to be that you per­
sonally checked each one of these exhibits for accuracy, is 
that correct~ A. If by that you mean did I personally 
check every figure on all of these exhibits, no. But if you 
interpret it-what I do mean by having checked is this: we 
made sample checks of all of the materials that have been 
prepared here, and we also had competent people making 
checks under my direction and reporting to me the re·sults 
of such checks. But I personally have not ehecked every 
figure, every percentage, every line among the tens of 
thousands involved in these exhibits. 

The Court: Haven't you been testifying here re­
peatedly that you checked this exhibit, checked that 
exhibit for accuracy, and that it was in all respects 
true and accurate T 
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The Witness: And I am now interpreting what 
that means. That does not mean I took a pencil per­
sonally-though I did on the majority of them per­
sonally-but it doe·s mean if I did not, we had it 
checked and the results reported to me. 

Q. Now, will you tell me, how many assistants did 
(3075) you have who were working under your direction 1 
A. That number, I should guess, if we took all of the 
people involved, would run into several dozen people from 
time to time. · 

, Q. Could you- A. We have not had a set staff of 
people who operated these throughout the period that I 
have been associated with this inquiry, but there have been 
from time to time different groups of people, and I am 
sure that if I eould summarize the numbers-which I would 
find it impossible to do-it would run up into several dozen. 

Q. Well, would you say it was five dozen? A. I doubt 
that it is that much. It is more likely between three and 
four dozen. · 

Q. Somewhere between 36 and 48 people worked in the 
preparation of these charts and tables and maps~ A. Yes. 

Q. Can you tell us who any of them were 1 A. The cleri­
cal staff in the office of the defense attorneys. I don't know 
their names. I know the popular names by which they are 
mentioned. 

Q. Can you tell us how many of the clerical staff worked 
on this~ A. That is a difficult question to answer precisely 
too, for this reason: I have been in that office almost in­
cessantly for quite a while, ( 3076) and at one time I 
find four or five people working in the clerical staff, and at 
another time I find six or seven, and they are not always the 
same people. It is not a situation in which we have had a 
professional staff which was employed to do precisely this 
thing alone, but a situation in which we have utilized such 
people as were made available and volunteered their serv­
ices, and some were employed by the defense counsel to do 
the clerical tabulations necessary for the charts and the 
tables we have presented. 

The Court: Do you mean to say you don't re­
member the name of a single one of those people T 
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The :Witness: Sure I do. I remember a name of 
a lady named Thelma. I don't know what her last 
name is. I remember the name of a person named 
Jackie, I don't know her last name. 

Q. Now, you have described those who worked as the 
clerical force, I think you described it, in the office of the 
defense attorney, and I understand your testimony to be 
that they constituted some of this three dozen or four 
dozen who had worked in the preparation of the charts and 
maps. Now will you tell us who else besides tho-se in the 
clerical force worked under your direction~ A. There have 
been volunteer workers who have been brought in from time 
to time, some-

(3077) Q. When you say "brought in," will you tell 
me what you mean by "brought in"~ Brought in where! 
A. Brought into the office of the defense counsel. The pro­
cedure, if you want to understand, is, I would say, "I need 
a number of people to make certain calculations. Will you 
get them?'' 

They got people to work with me, and generally under 
my direction in making certain calculations. Many of 
their names I never knew and don't now know. 

Q. Did you ever meet any of them prior to the time you 
met them in the performance of the duties which you as­
signed to them~ A. Some of them I have .seen before; some 
of them I have not. 

Q. How many of those working had you seen before T 
.A. That I would not attempt to answer, Mr. McGohey. 

Q. Well, would it be five~ A. I am sure I have seen 
more than five of them before. 

Q. Well, would you say it was ten~ A. I don't know. 
Q. Now, when you say you saw them before, do you 

mean you just saw them or did you meet them and talk to 
them before this time~ A. Some I met and talked to be­
fore; some I had seen before, and have not, so far as I 
remember, had any face to face conversations. There are 
some that I had seen in classes of mine before some I had 
met at meetings, and some I had never ~een (3078) 
before. 
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Q. What meetings~ A. I have no recollection of pre­
cisely what meetings I meet a person who happens now to 
come into an office where I am doing some work. 

Q. Did you meet them at any meetings of the Commu­
nist Party~ A. My answer was I don't recall where I met 
-indeed I am thinking of no particular person-where I 
recall-where I had met some of the people who came in to 
do volunteer work in the preparation of these materials. 

Q. Well, is there any one person of all those who a·s­
sisted in the preparation of these documents whom you can 
say you knew before that person began to work on these 
documents~ A. Surely. Of course. 

Q. And would you tell me who that person is Y A. Do 
you want the name-

Mr. Sacher: I object to that as irrelevant, in­
competent and immaterial. 

The Court : Overruled. 
Mr. Sacher : Exception. 

A. (Continued) You want the name of one person I knew 
prior to working with m.e on this material? Is that right? 

Q. Yes, please. A. The name of one such person ( 3079) 
is Mrs. Dorothy Rodman. 

Q. Is that the same lady to whom Mr. Hazard of the 
Immigration and Naturalization Service wrote the letter 
that was used by you as a base for one of the tables? A. 
That is the same lady. 

Q. Now, was there anybody else besides Mrs. Rodman 
whom you knew before that person began to work with you 
on these charts and exhibits~ A. A lady named Sarah­
! don't know what her last name is. I can find out if the 
Court :finds it important to do so. 

Q. You say you don't now know her last name' A. I 
don't. 

Q. Will you tell us how long you knew her~ A. I think 
I have known her for maybe a year or more; I believe I 
met her at the Jefferson School, I am not sure. 

Q. Was she a student of yours at the Jefferson Bchool f 
A. I don't believe she has been in my ·class at the Jefferson 
School but I am pretty sure that I have met her at the 
Jefferson School. 
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Q. Do you know what courses she was taking at the 
Jefferson School~ A. I do not. I could find that out if it 
is necessary. 

Q. Do you know anything at all about her educational 
background~ A. No. All I know is that she is a competent 
clerical worker. 

( 3080) Q. Do you know whether she has ever worked 
in preparing tables and charts of the kind that she worked 
on for you 1 A. She did not prepare tables and charts. 
What she did was a clerical job, a·s was true with most of 
these people, clerical jobs under supervision, of counting 
and tallying and totaling up figures which later were 
ehecked by somebody else. 

Q. Well, now, can you tell me this : Was the ·staff di­
vided into some who were supervisors and then others who 
worked under the supervisors~ A. Not on a permanent 
basis. That is, for example, let me illustrate: I men­
tioned Mrs. Rodman who, if you are interested in knowing, 
is a graduate of Columbia University in economic analysis, 
has held many federal posts, and other than in this respect-

The Court: Now, nobody asked you about that. 
Will you please stop that~ 

A. (Continued) She has been-

The Court: Strike that out. 

A. (Continued) She has been the one constant person who 
operated as a supervisor. From time to time, however, we 
have had sub-supervisors who were not a constant part of 
the staff. I can illustrate-

Q. Now, just hold the illustration for a second, please. 
Will Y?U give _me the names of .those who acted ( 3081) 
from hme to time as sub-supervrsors? A. I am not in a 
position to do that, Mr. McGohey. 

Q. Did you know any of those persons who acted as 
sub-supervisors prior to the time that they worked with 
you on the compilation of these charts? A. Some I did; 
some I did not. 

Q. Had you any knowledge of their educational back­
ground or their qualifications to do this work? A. In 
some cases, yes; in other cases, before any of them worked 
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on the chart, we tested them out. There were some people 
w.ho came to do jobs whom we said after having tested them 
on the particular kind of job, "We are sorry, maybe there 
is something else that the defense counsel can have you 
do.'' But the people who volunteered and whom we em­
ployed were people whom, after we had discovered their 
work and tested them out, we concluded were competent to 
carry through the simple routine operations required of 
them. 

Q. Did you personally give these tests? A. I did with 
some; I did not with others. Some of them were given by 
Mrs. Rodman who assisted me quite a bit here. 

Q. Is it your testimony now that the only person you 
are able to name is Mrs. Blodman and then this person whom 
you designated as Sarah~ A. That is not my testimony. 
You asked me those ( 3082) two-

Q. I ask you now, will you give me the name of any 
other person~ A. There is a gentleman named Alex. 

Q. Alex what~ A. Alex Munsell who helped me, I re­
member. 

The Court: He is one of the ones you knew 
before you undertook this work and who helped 
you~ 

The Witness: I have known him at the Jeffer­
son School. 

Q. Do you know what courses he takes at the Jefferson 
School? A. I do not. 

Q. Do you know anything about his educational back­
ground? A. I did not. 

Q. Do you know anything about his experience in doing 
work of this kind? A. I know only that he is competent to 
do the routine tasks we required of him. 

Q. Well, now, let us go back to these supervisors : Have 
you named any body other than Mrs. Rodman who acted as 
a supervisor~ A. Mrs. Rodman is the only one who acted 
in a professional capacity as a supervisor. On specific jobs 
-I started to illustrate and you stopped me. Do you want 
me to explain? 
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Q. I will ask you what I want to find out, Mr. Wilker­
son. You say Mrs. Rodman is the only one who acted on 
a professional basis~ A. That is right. 

(3083) Now, were there others who acted on a non­
professional basis 1 A. From time to time. 

Q. Well, when did you start this 1 When did you start 
the preparation of the charts and table.s and maps that 
have been introduced through you in evidence 1 

Mr. Sacher: I object to that as irrelevant, in­
competent and immaterial. 

The Court : Overruled. 
Mr. Sacher: Exception. 

A. I think it was some time during November when defense 
counsel first approached me on this subject. 

Q. Was it in the early part of November~ A. I would 
judge along about the middle of November, but I don't 
remember exactly, Mr. McGohey. 

Q. But you have been working with those people from, 
we will say, the 15th of November up to the present time, 
is that correct1 

Mr. Sacher: I obje,ct on the ground that it as­
sumes a state of facts not in evidence. The witness 
did not say the 15th of November. 

The Court : Overruled. 
Mr. Sacher : Exception. 

Q. Would you fix a different date than the 15th of No­
vember, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. I would fix no date at all. I 
would say about the middle of November. 

(3084) Q. About the middle of November would be 
about the 15th of November, would it not1 A. About the 
15th, not the 15th. 

Q. Beg pardon~ A. About the 15th. 
Q. About the 15th~ A. Yes. 
Q . .So you have been working with these people from 

about the 15th of November up until the 9th of February, 
about which there is no question is today? 
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Mr. Isserman: I would like to object to the form 
of this question on the ground that the witness has 
testified he worked with various groups of people 
from time to time. This question assumes working 
with one group right through. The witness has not 
so testified. 

The Court : Overruled. 
Please try to avoid making objections in such 

form that they might be interpreted as suggestive 
of the answer to the witness. 

The Witness: May I ask for an interpretation of 
your question 1 I am about to answer a specific ques­
tion. I don't want to answer-

Mr. McGohey: I shall withdraw the question 
and reframe it. 

Q. Is it a fact that you have been working with this 
group of assistants whom you have described generally 
from about the 15th of November up until today, February 
( 3085) 9, 1949 f A. The answer is yes-

Q. Can you answer that question yes or no, Mr. Wil­
ker.son? 

Mr. Sacher: He just said Yes. 

A. I can answer it yes, but I don't mean by that "Yes" 
in a full time capacity. You probably didn't mean that. 
But I have been working with this material from about 
the middle of November on up to the present time, some­
times more intensively than others. Does this suffice? 

Q. You .are talking about materials and I was asking 
you about persons. What I am trying to ascertain, Mr. 
Wilkerson, is this: Is it not a fact that you have been 
working with these people whom you have described gen­
erally as assistants from about November 15, 1948, up 
until February 9, 1949~ A. Not with all of them; with 
some at one point and some others at another point. 

Q. Now, besides Mrs. Rodman and-what was the other 
man you named, Alex ·somebody~ 

The Court: Alex Munsell. 
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Q. (Continuing) Alex 1.1unsell, can you give us the 
name of any other person in that group of assistants 1 
A. Who have worked with me at any time in this business 1 

Q. Yes. A. There is a lady named Thelma-or rather, 
Sarah-I mentioned her, I believe, did I not~ 

Q. Yes, I believe she is the lady you said you had seen 
(3086) at some meeting. A. I said probably, or perhaps 
the Jefferson School, I a1n not specific on that because I 
just don't know. 

Q. Do you know her last name~ A. I don't. 
Q. Did you mention somebody named Selma or Thelma~ 

A. I mentioned someone named Thelma. 
Q. Do you know the last name of that person 1 A. I 

don't. She is one of the clerical workers in the office. 
Q. I think you mentioned somebody named J a~kie ~ 

A. I did. 
Q. You don't know the last name of Jackie either, do 

you~ A. I don't. She also is a clerical ·worker in the 
office. 

Q. Had you ever met Thelma prior to the time that 
she became one of your assistants in this work~ A. I 
have met her at some time because when I went into the 
office for the first time I recognized her. Where, I don't 
know. 

Q. Have you any idea how long ago that was~ A. No. 
Q. Now, did you know Jackie at any time before he 

came to work with you~ 

The Court: Is that a "he"~ 
Mr. Sacher: No, that is a very pretty "she," 

your :Honor. 
( 3087) The Court: I thought Jackie was a she. 
Mr. McGohey: I will apologize to the lady and 

ac~ept the amendment. 
The Court: I think so. 
Isn't it a young lady~ 
The Witness: It is a young lady, your I-Ionor. 

By Mr. McGahey: 

·Q. Did you know that young lady prior to the time that 
she came to assist you in the preparation of these exhibits! 
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·A. I don't recall having known her prior to her working­
prior to my working there with her in the office of defense 
counsel. 

Q. I assume that you did not give Mrs. Rodman any 
tests to ascertain her capabilities~ A. We found out in 
advance what her professional experience over many years 
in this kind of work has been. 

Q. And on the basis of that you realized that she needed 
no testing~ A. ~fore than that. We checked some of the 
work that she did-we checked it throughout the period 
that ~she has been operating here, and have reassured our­
selves many times of her competence-

Q. Who was it-

The Court: Now, Mr. Wilkerson, you probably 
don't understand what cross-examination is. You 
have been wandering around explaining and saying 
this and that in (3088) your direct examination. 
Now on your cross-examination you will please 
listen carefully to the questions and give a direct 
and succinct answer and not add all these little 
explanatory details which have a tendency to get 
one's mind off the question. 

l\fr. Sacher: Will your Honor be good enough 
to advise the witness also that he does not have to 
answer yes or no but may briefly explain his answer 
if it needs an explanation~ 

The Court : I think he understands enough to 
know whether a question can be answered yes or no, 
but if he seems to require instruction on that sub­
ject I should be glad to give it to him. 

Mr. Gladstein: Will your Honor also instruct 
the witness at this time that when he is answering 
a question by Mr. McGohey, he has the right to give 
a full and complete answer directed to that question? 

The Court: No. That is one thing I certainly 
will not do because I have a pretty good idea of 
what he thinks is a full and complete answer; and 
when he got through I would not know where he 
started. 
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Mr. McGohey: Now may I have the last question 
read~ 

(Last question and answer read.) 

Q. Will you tell us who you included in the word 
( 3089) ''we'' when you said ''we checked her work'' o? 

A. That is an editorial "·we" that I got into the habit of 
using in many years as a professor-

The Court: Why don't you say '' 'We' means 

'I' "' 

Q. You mean yourself~ A. That is correct. 
Q. Now, can you give us the names of any other person 

in this group of assistants~ A. You mean anybody else 
who has helped at any time~ 

Q. I mean anybody whom you say assisted you in 
preparation of these charts and exhibits and maps. A. 
There is a man named Joe who is in the court here, or 
has been very often, whose last name I don't know, but 
who has worked with me from time to time in such tabu­
lations. 

Q. Very well. Now will you tell us when you first met 
Joe~ A. When I came to work with defense counsel on 
this project, I think. I don't remember having met him 
before. 

Q. Now, did you have any knowledge of his educational 
background~ A. I learned when I met him and when I 
spoke-indeed-the answer is yes. He volunteered to help 
by calling attention to the fact that he was a graduate of 
New York University in mathematics, and we utilized his 
services, which he volunteered. Either New York U. or 
C. C. N. Y.-I think it is New York U., yes. 

·Q. Now, he told you about his educational background 
and his study of mathematics at New York University? 
(3090) A. Yes. 

Q. Did he tell you his last name~ A. No. 
Q. Did you ask him for his last name~ A. I did not. 

l\!Ir. Sacher: He is right here, Mr. McGohey. 
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Q. Were you interested in who he was 1 A. I was cer­
tain if he were helping defense counsel-

The Court: Just a second, Mr. Sacher is having 
a wonderful time back there. What is going on, 
Mr. Sacher~ 

Mr. Sacher: I just informed :Mr. McGohey that 
this young man Joe is in the courtroom, and I can 
find his name for him if he wishes. 

The Court: Well, I would not make it the sub­
ject of such excessive mirth. 

Mr. Sacher: No, I am just feeling well, that 
is all. 

The Court : I can't see anything so hilarious 
about it myself, but perhaps I am wrong. 

Mr. NlcGohey: I am not .so interested in his name 
but I would like to find out if the expert knew his 
name. 

The Court : I know. 
The Witness: I was not interested in his last 

name either, Mr. McGohey. 

Q. Beg pardon~ A. I was not interested in his last 
name either. 

(3091) :Nir. Sacher: I want to object to this 
line of testimony unless Mr. McGohey says that he 
believes that 1\fr. Wilkerson's failure to know Joe's 
second name impugns the value of his analysis or 
the successive data that is introduced here. 

The Court: 'V ell, it does not make a very favor­
able impression on me that all this data that was 
supposed to be so carefully and accurately .assembled, 
was done by a miscellaneous group of people who 
came in and out. If he does not even know what 
their names were, I must say it seems to have some 
bearing on this question. 

Mr. Sacher: The important question is, is the 
information true or false, regardless of who made itT 

The Court : Yes~ 
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Mr. Sacher: .And if Mr. McGohey can't prove it 
is false, then I say all this pursuit of anonymity 
won't help his case one little iota. 

The Court: You see, unfortunately the shoe is 
on the other foot. You are the one who has to prove 
that the information is accurate, and that depends 
on how far I believe the testimony of Mr. Wilkerson. 
The burden is not on Mr. McGohey at all. 

Mr. Isserman : If the Court please, the super~ 
visor of the Census does not know the names of the 
census takers, but it does not make it anytheless 
accurate. 

(3092) By Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, you have given us the names 
of about a half dozen people who worked with you two 
of whose last names you knew. Can you give us the names 
of any of the others~ A. I remember at one time a lady 
whose name is Mildred McDoree-I think it is McDoree­
M-c-D-o-r-e-e-at least that is a phonetic spelling of the 
name-whom I first knew as a clerical worker at the Jef­
ferson School and who helped us in some of the clerical 
tasks involved in these analyses. 

The Court: How did you say that name was 
spelled~ 

The Witness : I assume that it is spelled 
M-c-D-o-r-e-e, though I couldn't guarantee that. 

The Court: A-d~ 
The Wi tnes.s : No A. 

By Mr. McGahey: 

Q. I understood you to say that she assisted in some 
clerical capacity~ A. That is right. 

Q. Would that be by typing~ A. No. That is tabu­
lating data. under supervision. 

Q. Can you tell us under whose supervision she worked~ 
A. Either under mine or under Mrs. R.odman 's, or both. 
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Q. Is it possible that she worked under some of these 
(3093) part time supervisors also 7 A. It is possible, 
but I don't recall. 

·Q. By the way, who else were some of the part time 
supervisors besides Mrs. Rodman~ A. I could best answer 
that if you will let me explain what I mean by part time 
supervisors, Mr. McGohey. 

Q. By all means, explain it. A. All right. There is 
a special task to be done such as tabulating certain data 
by health areas. We asked the people in charge of defense 
counsel's office to get us some additional help to do the job. 

Q. May I interrupt for just a moment. I understand 
when you use ''we'' in this answer you are using it edi­
torially? A. That is right. 

Q. Meaning yourself 1 A. When I say ''we'' I am 
meaning I. 

The Court : Well, please say ''I'' hereafter and 
it will be a little clearer. 

Q. Will you proceed, Mr. Wilkersonf A. Shall I 
proceed¥ 

Q. Yes. A. The office management there then produces 
:five or six or ten or sometimes more people to do the job. 
We get them together-! get them together, or Mrs. Rod­
man does, and sometimes we do-in the plu~al sense-

Mr. Sacher: He is an editor, your Honor, 
(3094) you see . 

.A. (Continued) And explain the job to be done, outline 
procedures, provide tabulation sheets, start them to oper­
ating; and we find-I find or Mrs. Rodman does or we 
do-that some of them catch on quickly. Some of them 
are not so quick. Some are obviously more skilled at this 
sort of thing than others. And very often what we do­
what I do-is to say to a lady whose name might be Susie 
in such a group, ''Look, will you take charge of this group 
of two or three who are making this particular part of 
the calculation 7'' and to a man whose name might be John 
who I never saw before, ''Look, you demonstrate ability 
here, won't you take charge of this group of three or four"; 

LoneDissent.org



1446 

Doxey A. Wilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge­
Recalled-Cross 

and we may have four or five or six different groups 
operating simultaneously in certain tabulations later to be 
checked. But what I am calling sub-supervisors are such 
people who in a volunteer capacity came to help with the 
work and who demonstrated a facility in doing the work 
which warranted our putting them in charge of the gangs 
of clerical workers on the tabulations. 

Now, most of those people I never saw before, and right 
now I can't think of the names of any of them. Most of 
their names I never learned. These were not people em­
ployed continuously on a staff. 

(3095) Q. Well, now, were they assigned to this type 
of work which you have just described in your last answer 
after they had been given a test, or was that assignment 
part of the test~ A. The a·ssignment to sub-supervision 7 

Q. The assignment that you just described in your 
last answer. A. I am not sure that I understand your 
question. I had previously testified that some people who 
volunteered to work we did not use because they proved 
to be incompetent. 

The Court : No-

Q. No, but you did testify before that you tested them 
in some way where you got people whom you did not 
know- A. And the process of te.sting as having them to 
do some sample tabulations-

The Court: That is what the test was. You 
would give them something to do, and they would 
start doing it, and then if they seemed proficient, 
that was the test. 

The Witness: Yes, you have it exactly. 
The Court: And then after you picked them out, 

you made them supervisors, and you did not know 
the names of mo-st of them, and the others that you 
did know the name you have forgotten' 

( 3096) The Witness : You are very correct. 
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By Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Did I understand you to testify then, Mr. Wilker­
son, that you personally checked every calculation made 
by each of the persons who worked under you from time 
to time~ A. You do not. 

Q. That is not correct~ A. That is not correct. 
Q. Did you check any of them~ A. I did. 
Q. Who checked those which you did not~ A. Mrs. 

Rodman and I, I think I am correct in saying, did all of 
the checking that was done. 

Q. Now, did you personally classify the occupations 
of the jurors according to the census system or the census 
classifications~ A. All 7500 included in the panels~ 

Q. Yes. A. No. 
( 3097) Q. Well, now, who helped you on that~ A. 

Most of that work was done by 11rs. Rodman, I did some 
of it, and Mrs. Rodman had a few people who were par­
ticularly skilled, had demonstrated that fact, to help in 
some of the others. I might explain here-

Q. I beg your pardon. A. I started to explain that 
this is one aspect of the inquiry which involved greater 
skill than most of the other.s; it was not simply a routine 
matter. And here many people were not used who were 
available to do simple tabulations. Mrs. Rodman per­
sonally did most of the classifications of occupations. I 
did, oh, at least four or five lists. There were a few people 
who had demonstrated, volunteer workers, real insight and 
ability, and upon check had demonstrated accuracy who 
Mrs. Rodman had help her in the classifications. 

Q. I-Iow many people would you say were in that group 
that helped Mrs. Rodman in the classifications~ A. I would 
say not more than two or three. 

Q. Can you give us the names of any of those two or 
three r A. I cannot. 

Q. Now after Mrs. Rodman had done this classification 
did you thereafter check it~ A. I spot checked it. By 
that I mean, we would pick up sample panels and deter­
mine the ·classification (3098) myself for a few of the 
jurors listed on that panel and on a few other panels, and 
get some measure of the accuracy with which it had been 
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done. If we saw errors or if we saw places where there 
was doubt, as I think I explained earlier, we changed the 
classification to a lower category. I looked over all of the 
sheets and actually checked the calculations with samples 
which I am sure on individuals would run up into the 
hundreds. We did not check every classification. 

Q. Do you know what guide was used in making the 
classification~ A. I have testified on that subject before. 

Q. Would you tell us again, please~ A. The alpha­
betical index of occupations which is published by the Cen­
iSUS Bureau primarily. 

Q. I think that is Exhibit 16. 

Mr. McGohey: May I have it, please 1 
Mr. Sacher: We are getting it for you, Mr. 

McGohey. 
Mr. Isserman: If your Honor please, might I 

excuse the witnesses who are waiting for the balance 
of the day1 

The Court : Y e·s. 

A. There was another classification of occupations which 
is a companion volume to this. 

(3099) Q. Would you describe that, please~ A. I think 
the title is Classification of Occupations and Industries. 

Q. Is it in evidence or has it been marked for identifi­
cation 1 A. I know it has been marked for identification. 
That is it. 

Mr. Gladstein: It is No. 17 (handing). 
Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I propose 

to read something from the transcript of testimony, 
and so that counsel may follow me I should like to 
direct their attention to page 2071 of the transcript. 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, I think it was on February 1st, in 
any event the answer of yours to which I am about to di­
rect your attention appears on page 2071 of the transcript 
and it is this, I am quoting the last paragraph: 

"However, take another illustration that I recall 
from some of the~se-a tailor. You will find if you 
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analyze the classification, alphabetical index of oc­
cupations in industries, that a tailor who is a pro­
prietor and owns his own business would be classi­
fied as a proprietor, manager and official, our cate­
gory of exe·cutives." 

Do you recall that~ A. I think I recall that. 

Q. Now will you take Exhibit 16, please, the (3100) 
alphabetical index~ 

Mr. Gladstein: You might finish the answer. 
Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, if I may be per­

mitted to ask my questions-
The Court : Yes. 

Q. Will you please take that alphabetical index, Exhibit 
16, and tell me how the census classifies a tailor who is 
a proprietor and owns his own business~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Now it seems to me that Mr. 
McGohey-

The Court : Now, don't tell him the answer. 
Mr. Gladstein: I am not telling it to him. 
Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, I submit that 

the witness ought to be allowed­
The Court : Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: -to look at-
The Court : He is going to be allowed. 
Mr. McGohey: -the thing that he has there. 
Mr. Gladstein: I don't mind the quotation 

from the record, but I am going to suggest, in fair­
ness to the witness, when Mr. McGohey asks if he 
testified to something that he read the whole answer 
or the whole context. Now what Mr. McGohey has 
done has been to stop at the end of a sentence that 
is in the middle of a paragraph. 

( 3101) Mr. McGohey: If the Court please­
The Court: I have read it, Mr. McGohey. I will 

overrule the objection. 
Now, you get your mind on the question, Mr. Wit­

ness, and let us have the answer. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I think Mr. McGohey should 
recognize that, in fairness, the witness ought to be 
allowed to see the answer he is about to be ques­
tioned about. 

The Court: You will please desist from further 
argument at this point, Mr. Gladstein. 

Mr. Gladstein: I take exception to the Court's 
refusal to allow the witness to see the testimonv that 
he gave, the full answer concerning which he is ~about 
to be questioned. 

The Court : You may do so ; your exception is 
noted. 

A. You haven't finished your question, have you, Mr. Mc­
Gohey~ Are you waiting for me~ 

Q. I am waiting for you. 

The Court: Yes, you are looking it up there. 

A. That is right. You will find that on page 478 a tailor 
in a shirt factory is a 496 classification, a tailor in any 
store is 360, a tailor except in a shirt-

Q. Just a minute, please. Are you talking about 
(3102) 478~ A. I am. 

Q. And you first mentioned a tailor in a shirt factory1 
A. Shirts or shirt factory. 

Q. Now a tailor in a shirt factory is not a tailor who is 
a proprietor and owns his own business, is he~ A. That is 
right. I may answer your question if you will. 

The Court: Well, don't be so roundabout at it. 
The Witness: Shall I proceed 1 

Q. Please. 

The Court: Now remember what your finding is, 
that a tailor who is a proprietor and owns his own 
business would he classified as a proprietor, manager 
and official. 

The Witness: That is right. 
The Court : You are looking in the book to find 

that. Don't get us off the point by talking about 
men who are employed in shirt factories or other fac­
tories, but keep your mind right on the question. 
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The Witne.ss: It is on the question, your Honor. 
I know the misconception Mr. McGohey is under, and 
I am trying to clear it up. 

The Court : Well, you are being cross examined. 
Mr. McGohey: I move to strike out the charac­

terization-
Mr. Sacher: I object. 
(3103) Mr. McGohey: -that I am under a 

misconception. 
Mr. Sacher: I object. The cross examiner is not 

entitled constitutionally to entertain misconceptions, 
and if the witness wishes to clear up the misconcep­
tion we should all welcome it. We are concerned 
with the administration of justice. 

The Court : So we are. 
Mr. Sacher: So let us clear up the ·United States 

Attorney's misconception. 
Mr. McGohey: I move to strike it out, your 

Honor. 
The Court: Strike it out. 
This witness is being cross examined, among 

other things, as to his veracity. 
Mr. Sacher: That is right. 
The Court : And so we will be-
Mr. Sacher: And he will stand up, that is right, 

he will stand up under-
The Court: That is what you say. 
Mr. Sacher: -under the worst cross examina­

tion of Mr. McGohey's. 
The Court: That is fine, Mr. Sacher. 
Now let us see what the answer is. He has had 

plenty of time to think. 
The Witness: The question was, how would you 

( 3104) classify a tailor who is an owner and who 
would go-

The Court : The question is-

Q. Oh no. 

The Court: -point in that book to the place 
where they have that. 
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The Witness: All right. The fact that the tailor 
you ar·e asking me about is a tailor is not so signifi­
cant in his classification as the fact that he is an 
owner. And if you willlook-

Mr. McGohey : If the Court please, I move to 
strike out the answer. 

The Court: Strike it out. 
The Witness: Let me answer that question. Will 

you turn to page 360, Mr. McGohey. 

Q. Yes. A. You will find there-
Q. 360 ~ A. That is right. (Continuing) -many cate­

gories of owners all of whom are classified as managers, 
officials and proprietors. That means-

Q. Yes. A. And the tailor who is an owner to whom I 
referred earlier would be classified as an owner in group 1 
or, rather, what we have called one of the executives. 

Q. Will you !show me on 360 where a tailor is listed 
under the category of owner~ A. 360 does not. Indeed, 
there are many categories of owners who are not .specified 
in this volume, but any owner is classified by the Census, 
( 3105) and you will find that, I am sure, if you study these 
volumes enough, as a manager, professional-or executive 
and official. 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, I ask you to turn to page 393 of 
Exhibit 16. Have you found that page~ A. I have. 

Q. Now that lists proprietors of various classes, does it 
not¥ A. It does. 

Q. About half way down the page do you not find the 
words ''Tailor Shop"1 A. I do. 

Q. Indicating that that is a classification for a proprie­
tor of a tailor shop~ A. That is eorrect. 

Q. And will you tell us how that proprietor of a tailor 
shop is classified on that page 393~ A. With the 360 symbol. 

Mr. Sacher: I object to it unless it appears­
The Court: Please let him answer. 
Mr . .Sacher: What are you worrying about, 

Judge 1 Do you think this case hinges on the little 
tailor on Amsterdam A venue 7 

The Court: No. 
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Mr. Sacher: Is that the basis-
The Court : I am quite accustomed to inetances 

where counsel who called a witness-
Mr. Sacher: May I ask for-
( 3106) The Court: -constantly adopt stalling 

tactics and things of that kind, and I don't intend to 
have that here. 

Mr. Sacher: May I then ask for permission to 
make the observation after he answers that I was 
going to make before~ 

The Court: Well, you have already served that 
purpose. 

Mr. Sacher: What is the difference~ I couldn't­
Mr. M,cGohey: If your Honor please, may I ask 

that the witness be directed to answer the question 
I have just asked 1 

Mr. Sacher: I object again on the ground that 
it doesn't indicate whether the tailor Mr. McGohey is 
speaking about is an employer of labor or not. And 
Mr. McGohey can't tell me or anybody else that any­
one that employ~ ten employes in a tailor shop isn't 
a proprietor, owner and manager. 

The Court: You have done just precisely what 
I told you not to do, and you have done that so many 
times that I will merely have it indicated on the rec­
ord here that I am observing and noting. I ask all 
of counsel to desist from comments in the guise of 
objections to questions which in effect sugge:st the 
answers to the witness under cross examination. 

(3107) I will overrule the objection. 
The Witness: May I eontinue the answer to your 

question, Mr. McGohey ~ 
Mr. McGohey: May I hear the last part of the 

witness's answer that came before the interruption? 

(Record read.) 

Mr. McGohey: That is correct. 

Q. Now, will you proceed from there, Mr. Wilkerson . 
.A.. The remark you read out of the record-

The Court: How is he classified 1 

LoneDissent.org



1454 

Doxey A. Wilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge­
Recalled-Cross 

Q. Now, will you answer the question, please~ Will you 
tell me how this Census volume classifies the proprietor of 
a tailor shop~ A. As a 360 which is craftsmen and would 
fall into category 4. 

Q. You mean, when you say category 4, the category 4 
that you used in dividing the occupations of jurors 1 A. 
Yes. 

Q. That is, a manual workert A. Yes. But I should 
like to explain my testimony, if I may. 

Mr. Sacher: I ask that the witness be per-
mitted-

The Court : Your application is denied. 
Mr. Sacher: I thank you. 
The Court: You have redirect examination, as I 

think perhaps you will recall, and anything you de­
sire to bring out by way of explanation you will do 
so then. 

(3108) Mr. Sacher: Don't you think it will as­
sist your Honor and any higher court that will read 
the record to have it all in plain-

The Court: I don't desire anything that will 
make for confusion and disturbance. 

Mr. Sacher: Confusion 1 To have this answer 
right and understood by what he has just said~ 

The Court: Nothing will serve to shut you up, 
Mr. Sacher. And I merely indicate to you my desire 
that you desist. 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, I am reading frorn page 2072 of 
the transcript in which your answer appears to continue. 

"If the designation on the jury list for this particu­
lar juror (who) was a tailor (and) was not sufficient­
ly explicit to make clear with certainty which of the 
two categories he should go into, we chose the 
manual worker (category) rather than the execu­
tive.'' 

That is your testimony, is it not' 

A. I think so. 
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Mr. Gladstein: You don't even read it correctly, 
Mr. McGohey. I think the least that the witness can 
have the benefit of is to take the actual text. 

The Court: Well, that will not be done. 
Mr. Gladstein: Then at least Mr. McGohey ought 

( 3109) to have read the answer as it appears in 
the record. 

The Court: He should. 
Mr. Gladstein: Then I object to the last quota-

tion as being inaccurate and I ask that it be re-read. 
The Court: There was a very slight inaccuracy. 
Mr. Gladstein: There ·were several. 
The Court: I think it will be re-read to him, 

and that will be done. 
Mr. Gladstein: We will have to watch carefully 

what l\1r. McGohey reads. 
The Court: Well, we will all watch carefully. 
1fr. McGohey: If your Honor can spare the 

time I will read everything that has been read both 
befor,e and right now. 

Q. Reading on page 2071 : 

''However, take another illustration that I ,re­
call from some of these-a tailor. You will find if 
you analyze the classification, alphabetical index of 
occupations in industries, that a tailor who is a 
proprietor and owns his own business would be 
classified as a proprietor, manager and official, our 
category of executives. There are, however, cer­
tain other categories of tailors who would be classi­
fied as manual workers. 

"If the designation on the jury list for this 
( 3110) particular juror who was a tailor was not 
sufficiently explicit to make clear with certainty 
which of the two categories he should go into, we 
chose the manual worker category rather than the 
executive. In that sense we always-wherever there 
was any possibility of doubt we chose that alterna­
tive which would have the effect of tending to in-
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crease the proportion of manual workers, clericals, 
what-have-you, or, rather, those below executives 
on the jury lists.'' 

But it is a fact, is it not, Mr. Wilkerson, from the Ex­
hibit 16 which you have just read that a tailor who owns 
his own shop is classified by the Census not as an execu­
tive, as you said, but as a craftsman which you put in the 
manual worker category1 Is that not a fact 1 A. That is 
a fact. 

(3111) 

The Court: Now, here is where we are going to 
stop for the day, and we will go on at 10.30 tomor­
row morning. 

(Adjourned to February 10, 1949, at 10.30 a.m.) 

New York, February 10, 1949; 
10.30 a. m. 

The Court: Now, I have been studying these 
minutes last night, and there are two exhibits that 
I should like to reconsider. 

Will you, Mr. Gladstein, please get for me Ex­
hibits 96 and 97 for identification~ They constitute 
the tables described as P-1 and P-2. 

Mr. Gladstein: I have them here. 
Will you hand them to the Judge, Mr. Clerk? 

(Exhibits handed to Court.) 

The Court: Oh, yes. These are just the ones 
I thought they were. 

I shall change my ruling as to those two exhibits 
and admit them. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 96 and 97 for 
identification received in evidence.) 

Mr. McGohey: Mr. Wilkerson, will you resume 
the stand, please. 
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(3112) DoxEY A. WILKERSON, resumed the stand. 

Mr. :NicGohey: May ·we have the original of 
Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 106.' I think that is 
Table XI-C. 

(Exhibit handed to l\.1r. McGohey.) 

Cross examination continued by Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, I hand you Defendants' Challenge 
Exhibit in evidence numbered 106. I see from the note at 
the foot of that table that the basic data from which that 
table was compiled was from the 16th Census of the United 
States, Population, Second Series, New York. Tables D-39 
and F-39, and the percentage of illiteracy from the Census 
report, Series P -20, No. 20, Table 4. And that appears 
to be Challenge Exhibit 85. A. There is no such note on 
this exhibit. 

Q. Well, it is on the copy that was handed to me, and 
I remember at the time we had some discussion about the 
fact that some copies had this basic data and some did 
not. Would you take a look at this copy and tell me 
whether or not in compiling that table, which is denomin­
ated Challenge Exhibit 106 for identification, you did or 
did not use the data which appears in the note which I 
have just read? A. We did. 

Mr. McGohey: May I have Challenge Exhibit 
85? 

(3113) (Exhibit handed to Mr. McGohey.) 

Mr. McGohey: Will you excuse me for just a 
minute, please? 

The Court: Yes. 

By Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Do I understand by that, Mr. Wilkerson, that you 
used Challenge Exhibit 85, which I show you, for data 
from which you determined- A. Pardon me, may I see 
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the one on which you have the notation you are referring 
toT 

Q. Oh, yes. It reads ''Basic data from the 16th Census, 
United States Population.'' I· have some additional notes 
of my own on that, Mr. Wilkerson, which I do not deem it 
appropriate to show you at this time. A. May I take my 
own copy~ 

Q. You may take your own copy, yes, by all means. 
Now will you just take that copy and not any other notes 
that you may have there~ A. Now your question~ 

Q. Now, would you put away your other notes except 
the table, please. Now did you rely on Challenge Exhibit 
85, which is called "Current population reports, popula­
tion characteristics,'' for determining the percentage of 
illiteracy, as you have shown it, on Challenge Exhibit 
106 ~ A. We relied upon a procedure that is illustrated 
(3114) by Challenge Exhibit 85 in doing this. 

Q. Would you tell us what the procedure was 7 ~1\. 
The procedure of taking a certain percentage, here 75.7 
per cent of those with no years schooling, and here 15.6 
per cent, those who had four years schooling, and estimat­
ing illiteracy on the basis of that. 

Q. Well, in so far as you used Challenge Exhibit 85, 
you used a procedure with respect to illiteracy as illiteracy 
is there defined, I assume~ A. (\Vitness nods.) 

The Court: Did he say ''Yes''~ 
1fr. McGohey: I think the answer is "Yes." 

The witness nodded his head in the affirmative. 
The Witness: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: The answer is "Yes." 

Q. Now, will you look at Challenge Exhibit 85. That 
is the current population reports. A. All right. 

Q. ''Of the 106,000,000 persons' '-I am reading from 
the paragraph, the bottom of the first paragraph of the 
first page, Mr. Wilkerson, "Age and Sex"-"Of the 
106,000,000 persons in the United States who were 14 years 
ol? and over ,in Oct?ber 1947 "- A. Pardon me just a 
minute. I don t find 1 t. You are reading on the first page T 
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Q. On the very first page, the last paragraph under 
(3115) the heading ''Age and Sex." A. Go right ahead. 

Q. "Of the 106,000,000 persons in the United States 
who were 14 years old and over in October 1947 about 2.8 
millions or 2.7 per cent were unable to read and write 
either in English or any other language and were there­
fore classed as illiterate.'' 

That is correct, is it not~ A. That is correct. 
Q. Did you determine the literacy or illiteracy of either 

jurors or population on the basis of whether they could 
·write some other language other than English 1 A. We 
used the procedures here outlined, but-

Mr. JYicGohey: Now, if your Honor please, I 
don't think that answers my question. 

The Court: Strike it out. 
l\1r. McGohey: And I should like the ·witness 

to answer it; and I move to strike out what he is 
saying. 

The Court: It is stricken out. 

A. (Continued) Mr. McGohey, if I give you a direct answer 
it is not a. full answer to your question. I should like to 
explain the truth of the situation. 

Q. I would like to have first a direct answer, and if 
it requires explanation I shall ask it. A. Very well. 

l\1r. Sacher: I object to that. If the witness 
wants-

( 3116) The Court: If he cannot give a direct 
answer he may say so. 

JYir. Sacher: That is what he has just said, I 
think, your Honor. 

Mr. 1IcGohey: I move to strike out counsel's 
comment and suggestion. 

The Court: \V ell, I thought it was proper. 
Mr. McGohey: I am sorry. I withdraw it, your 

Honor. 
The Court: I interpreted the answer of the wit­

ness in effect to mean that he could not answer the 
question either yes or no. 
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Mr. McGohey: I will defer to your Honor's 
suggestion. 

Will you read the question~ 

(Question read.) 

A. My response is, I can answer that question adequately 
only with several sentences, not with a yes or no. 

Q. Very well. Will you answer it your own wayT A.. 
Well, the direct answer is Yes. We used the basis which 
is utilized by the Census Bureau here in calculating the 
percentage of people in given age groups who are illiterate 
on the basis of the number of years of schooling that they 
had, and hence our concept of illiteracy there is the Census 
concept of illiteracy. 

(.3117) However, as was brought out in Mr. Gordon's 
questioning of me yesterday, we did this on the basis of 
the population 25 years of age and over which has the 
effect of exaggerating greatly a percentage of literacy 
because the percentage increases as you go up the .scale; 
and when we applied that ratio to people 14 years of age 
and over it gave us an exaggerated expression of the 
amount of literacy. 

Further, we proceeded to use-

The Court: I think, Mr. Wilkerson-
The Witness: I haven't answered the question, 

your Honor. 
The Court: Yes, I understand; but when you 

said you could not answer it yes or no, it is evi­
dent to me now that you could but that you wanted 
to go into a long explanation of the reasons. Now, 
that is the sort of thing that is generally reserved 
for the redirect ~examination of a witness, and I 
think such explanation as you have already given 
will suffice. 

You see, we would never get through with cross­
examination if every time a witness felt that a 
direct answer might be misleading he were permit­
ted to go on and make all the explanation he desired 
to do. Cross-examination would be interminable and 
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wind up in confusion because nobody would be able 
to keep their mind on the ( 3118) original ques­
tion. 

The answer is Yes. 

By Mr. McGohey: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, it is a fact, is it not, that the 
Census determines literacy on the basis of the ability of 
a person to read or write any language; correct, is it not 7 
.A. May I check the Census definition to answer your 
question 1 

Q. Will you look at the part that I just read to you Y 
.A. There are some more parts here, too, that you didn't 
read. On page 3 of Exhibit 85 there is a statement that 
is relative to the question you are raising: "Persons com­
pleting fewer than five years of elementary"-

Q. Will you indicate where you are reading from f .A. 
Page 3, the first column, third paragraph. 

Q. Entitled "Functional illiteracy''' A. That is cor­
rect. "Persons ·completing fewer than five years of ele­
mentary school have sometimes been called 'functional il­
literates,' for example, "-and they give several examples. 
"• • * Data from the October 1947 survey indicate that the 
conventional definition of illiteracy, inability to read and 
write, is a much less rigorous criterion. There have been 
8.2 million persons in the United States 14 years old 
(3119) and over who have cornpleted less than five years 
of school, whereas there were only 2.8 million who were un­
able to read and write. Even among those"-I think it is 
not necessary to read the rest of it. 

But the definition that the Census has in mind and 
which, hence, applies to the data we used is the fuller defi­
nition that you must read here. 

Q. Yes, but the last sentence in that paragraph that 
you have been reading, '·'Functional illiteracy," will you 
read, please, the very last sentence in that paragraph f A. 
"The ·classification of 'functional illi tera te.s' as those com­
pleting less than five years of school was merely a group­
ing to serve a particular purpose.'' 

Q. Now does that paragraph, including that last sen­
tence that you have just read, in any way change the text 
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on the :first page where it says that 2.8 million or 2.7 per 
cent were unable to read and write either in English or 
in any other language and was therefore classed as il­
literate~ A. It doesn't change it. It is supplementary to 
it. 

Q. So that my question which I asked before has not yet 
been answered by you. Isn't it a fact that literacy, that 
is, the ability to read and write any language would be 
considered literacy for Census purposes~ A. That is cor­
rect. 

(3120) Q. Now, isn't it a fact that literacy for voting 
purposes in the State of New York would require ability 
to read and write English~ A. That is correct. 

Q. And to understand English~ A. That is correct. 
Q. And greater ability to read, write and understand 

all the other languages would not be Gufficient if you could 
not read and write and understand English~ A. That is 
correct. There is more to this question, however, if you 
let me explain it. 

Mr. McG-ohey: If your Honor please­
The Court: Strike it out. 

Q. Now, don't you know from your studies that one of 
the qualifications for a juror in this court is the ability 
to read and write and understand English~ A. I do. 

Mr. McG-ohey: May I have DefendantJ.S' Chal­
lenge Exhibits 16 and 17, please~ 

The Witness: They are here, J\Ir. l\1cG-ohey. 
Mr. McG-ohey: The exhibits themselves 1 

Q. \Vill you please put the rest of your notes away, 
Professor 1 A. Do you want to take these (handing)~ 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, I understood your teBtiinony at the 
beginning of it and again yesterday to be that in classi­
fying the names of persons appearing on the jury panels 
( 3121) according to their occupations, you used the two 
exhibits which are now before you, Defendants' Challenge 
Exhibit 16 and Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 17; is that 
correct~ A. That iJ.3 correct. 
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